
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

       
      
 

    
 

AGENDA 
TOWN OF ROME PLAN COMMISSION PUBLIC HEARING  

AND REGULAR MEETING 
 

TUESDAY, APRIL 9, 2024          4:00 PM        ROME MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
         1156 Alpine Drive 
         Nekoosa, WI  54457 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Roll Call 
 

3. Certify Posting of Meeting 
 

4. Approve the Agenda 
 

5. Citizen Comments – During the Citizen Comment period of the agenda the Plan Commission 
welcomes comments from any town resident, not a member of the Commission, on any item not 
on the agenda. Please know that pursuant to State law the Commission cannot engage in 
conversation with you but may ask questions. The Commission may refer the item to staff, a 
standing committee or a future Plan Commission agenda for discussion and action. Each person 
wishing to speak will have up to 3 minutes to speak. Speakers are asked to submit a card to the 
Chair providing their name, address and topic for discussion 

a. The Commission will also take comment from the public on agenda items as called by the 
Chair, but not during Citizen Comment. Please note that once the Commission begins 
discussion on an agenda item no further comment will be allowed from the public on that 
issue 
 

NO ACTION CONTEMPLATED EXCEPT POSSIBLE REFERRAL TO FUTURE AGENDA: 

6. Information Updates, Recent Correspondence, Current Events, Announcements 
 

7. Open Public Hearing 

a. Consideration of a Site Plan/Plan of Operation for Kent Schneider (KMC Tucks LLC) d/b/a 
Cal’s Corner, to construct a seating area/addition at 382 State Road 13, also described as 
Lot 76 of Canterbury Addition to Lake Sherwood located in SW ¼, SE ¼, Section 17, Town 
20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-01951-0000 

b. Consideration of a proposed Zoning Map amendment from R-4 (Rural Residence District) to 
R-2 (One- and Two-Family and Manufactured Dwelling Residence District) relating to a .5-
acre portion of land, being part of parcel 030-00747-0010, also described as Lot 1, CSM 
1729, located in the SW1/4, SW1/4 Section 12, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams 
County, WI 

c. Consideration of proposed amendment to Chapter 360 (Zoning), Article III, General 
Regulations, 360-10 Accessory uses and structures, regarding canopies 

d. Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the following purpose:  the 
short-term rental at the property located at 967 Mansfield Ct., owned by John and Christie 
Hotz, also described as Lot 2 of Chatham Addition to Lake Camelot, located in the SE1/4, 

Town of Rome 
Nekoosa, WI 54457 
www.romewi.com 

http://www.romewi.com/


 

Page 2 of 3 
 

SW1/4, Section 15, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel 
number of 030-05137-0000 

e. Consideration of a Preliminary Plat for Sedge Village South, to be located on a 29.16-acre 
parcel owned by Sand Valley South, LLC, described as follows: Lot 26, 27, and 28, Sedge 
Village, Document No. 572728, and Part of the NW ¼ and the NE ¼ of the SW ¼ and the NW 
¼ of the SE ¼, all in Section 26, Town 20N, Range 5E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI 

8. Close Public Hearing 

DISCUSS AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING ITEMS: 

9. Discussion and possible action - Meeting minutes from Tuesday, March 12, 2024 
 

10. Discussion and possible action – Heartland Custom Homes, Inc. Review of landscaping, lighting, 
parking and sign plan for the property address of 1144 CTH D, also described as Lot 1 CSM 6905, 
located in the SW1/4 of the NE1/4, Section 08, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams 
County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-00637-0020 
 

11. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board – Consideration of Sign Permit to 
locate a 4.3’ x 6.2’ off premise sign at intersection of Alpine Drive and Geneva Trail for Rome Town 
Center 
 

12. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board - Consideration of a Site Plan/Plan of 
Operation for Kent Schneider (KMC Tucks LLC) d/b/a Cal’s Corner, to construct a seating 
area/addition at 382 State Road 13, also described as Lot 76 of Canterbury Addition to Lake 
Sherwood located in SW ¼, SE ¼, Section 17, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, 
WI, with a parcel number of 030-01951-0000 

 
13. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board - Consideration of a proposed Zoning 

Map amendment from R-4 (Rural Residence District) to R-2 (One- and Two-Family and 
Manufactured Dwelling Residence District) relating to a .5-acre portion of land, being part of 
parcel 030-00747-0010, also described as Lot 1, CSM 1729, located in the SW1/4, SW1/4 Section 12, 
Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI 

 
14. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board - Consideration of proposed 

amendment to Chapter 360 (Zoning), Article III, General Regulations, 360-10 Accessory uses and 
structures, regarding canopies 

 
15. Discussion and possible action - Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the 

following purpose:  the short-term rental at the property located at 967 Mansfield Ct., owned by 
John and Christie Hotz, also described as Lot 2 of Chatham Addition to Lake Camelot, located in 
the SE1/4 

 
16. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board - Consideration of a Preliminary Plat 

for Sedge Village South, to be located on a 29.16-acre parcel owned by Sedge Village, LLC, 
described as follows: Lot 26, 27, and 28, Sedge Village, Document No. 572728, and Part of the NW 
¼ and the NE ¼ of the SW ¼ and the NW ¼ of the SE ¼, all in Section 26, Town 20N, Range 5E, Town 
of Rome, Adams County, WI 

 
17. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board - Consideration of a site plan/plan of 

operation for Barnum Bay Beach and Marina, LLC for the property located on Archer Ln., also 



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

described as Lot 1 CSM 4670, located in Government Lot 2 of Section 28, Town 20N, Range 05E, 
Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel number of 030-00408-0015 
 

DATES AND ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDA/MEETINGS 
18. Next agenda items: 

 
19. Next meeting date and time: May 14, 2024 at 4:00 p.m. 

 
ADJOURMENT 
 
“Speak Your Peace” Commitment – A reminder that the Town Board Members have adopted the Nine 
Tools of Civility which commits the Board Members and Public to be mindful of how we treat each other 
at meetings. 
 
Notification of this meeting has been posted in accordance with the Open Meeting Laws of the State of 
Wisconsin. 
 
The Plan Commission may take action on any item on the agenda. It is possible that the members of and 
possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at 
the above-stated meeting to gather information; no action will be taken by any governmental body at 
the above-stated meeting other than the Plan Commission. 



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

       

      

 

    

 

MINUTES 

TOWN OF ROME PLAN COMMISSION PUBLIC HEARING  

AND REGULAR MEETING 
 

TUESDAY, MARCH 12, 2024          4:00 PM        ROME MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

         1156 Alpine Drive 

         Nekoosa, WI  54457 

1. Call to Order 
Chairman Mike Baker called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.   

 

2. Roll Call 
 

Plan Commissioners present: Jerry Wiessinger, Thomas Gabriel, Paul Janczak, Chairman Mike Baker, Lori Djumadi 

and Bill Kappel.  

Plan Commissioners excused: Diana Duelge.  

Also present: Support Specialist Taylor Owczynsky and Town Attorney Nick Flanagan.  

Will Blakey present for Agenda items 7a & 10. 

Applicants Mark Anderson & Dan Lilja present for Agenda items 7b & 11. 

Joe Eichsteadt present for Agenda items 7c&d and 12 & 13.  

Applicant Dave Mehring present for Agenda items 7e & 14.  

Applicants Mitch and Stacey Peterson present for Agenda items 7f & 15.  
 

3. Certify Posting of Meeting 

 

Support Specialist Taylor Owczynsky certified that Monday, March 1, 2024 the agenda for the Town of Rome Plan 

Commission meeting for Tuesday, March 12, 2024 was posted at the following locations: 
 

Rome Town Hall at 12:55 p.m. 

Kwik Trip LLC at 5:35 p.m. 

Nekoosa Port Edwards State Bank at 5:40 p.m. 

Emailed to the Wisconsin Rapids Daily Tribune on 3-4-2024 

Legal Notice published in the Wisconsin Rapids Tribune on: 2/28/2024 & 3/5/2024 

 

4. Approve the Agenda 

 

Motion by Djumadi/Kappel to take items 14 and 15, which are short-term rental discussions, and move that up to a 

place after number 9. With changes noted, motion carried.  

 

5. Citizen Comments – During the Citizen Comment period of the agenda the Plan Commission welcomes 

comments from any town resident, not a member of the Commission, on any item not on the agenda. 

Please know that pursuant to State law the Commission cannot engage in conversation with you but 

may ask questions. The Commission may refer the item to staff, a standing committee or a future Plan 

Commission agenda for discussion and action. Each person wishing to speak will have up to 3 minutes to 

speak. Speakers are asked to submit a card to the Chair providing their name, address and topic for 

discussion 

a. The Commission will also take comment from the public on agenda items as called by the Chair, 

but not during Citizen Comment. Please note that once the Commission begins discussion on an 

agenda item no further comment will be allowed from the public on that issue 

 
             No citizen comments received. 

 

NO ACTION CONTEMPLATED EXCEPT POSSIBLE REFERRAL TO FUTURE AGENDA: 

Town of Rome 

Nekoosa, WI 54457 

www.romewi.com 

http://www.romewi.com/


 

Page 2 of 5 
 

6. Information Updates, Recent Correspondence, Current Events, Announcements 
Commissioner Djumadi comments on initial “roll-out” of Zoning Hub and new extended zoning hours.  

 

7. Open Public Hearing  
There were 26 members of the public present, including those applicants noted above. 

a. Consideration of a revised site plan/plan of operation for Heartland Custom Homes, Inc. to adjust 

building orientation, and occupy tenant at the property address of 1144 CTH D, also described as Lot 1 

CSM 6905, located in the SW1/4 of the NE1/4, Section 08, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams 

County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-00637-0020 

 
Will Blakey present to comment on the Site Plan/ Plan of Operation revision. Orientation of buildings has changed 

due to acquiring more land. Original Site Plan said was subject to approved Landscape & signage plan being 

presented to Plan Commission as well as any proposed tenant coming back before the Plan Commission for 

approval prior to Occupancy. 

Applicant explains proposed locations of septic systems (POWTS).  

Discussion on building materials and applicant indicates no changes from original materials.  

Note of sign-off from Fire Chief for emergency vehicle access.  

Discussion of landscape plan.  

b. Consideration of a site plan/plan of operation for Barnum Bay Beach and Marina, LLC for the property 

located on Archer Ln., also described as Lot 1 CSM 4670, located in Government Lot 2 of Section 28, 

Town 20N, Range 05E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel number of 030-00408-0015 

 
Applicants Mark Anderson & Dan Lilja present to comment regarding the campground map, septic and 

stormwater. Applicant indicated map does not yet show electrical or septic because they were told those can’t 

decide until they know where the roads and the pads are going to be. Applicant comments regarding drainage 

runoff for the DNR and that the power company and the state has told the applicant they will figure out where to 

put drainage swales and drainage retention area once the map is done and they can walk the site once the 

road is in, to make an assessment. 

 

Commissioner Wiessinger points out that the map was supposed to have dimensions, the campsites are not 

denoted as to the size, and there is no place for the septic system. Also, failure to show trees in setback where 

commercial property is next to residential property on map. Suggests staggering for screening of trees to create 

barrier. 

 

Commissioner Gabriel questions if campsites will be full hookups. Applicant Mark Anderson states the 

campground will fit all requests of the Plan Commission/Conditions. 

 

Discussion that there will be a dump station and it will be connected to a septic. Applicants ask for leeway, and 

understanding that things are subject to change, since septic, in their mind, is subject to change based on where 

road and pads are going to fit and are allowed to be. Commissioners suggest perk tests.  

 

Discussion of DNR and the water runoff; with property being owned by Wisconsin Power Company. Applicant 

indicated the State needs to know where everything’s going to be and they will make their final decisions. 

 

Commissioner Djumadi questions who Lot 1 is owned by. It was determined that the Condominium Association 

owns Lot 1.  

Commissioner Djumadi comments regarding knowing the traffic flow and the outdoor lighting. However, some 

things still need to be completed in the Site Plan. 

She states they would want them to go with exactly what it is for B1 Design Standards in the zoning code. Refuse 

containers are on map but not on application she notes. Other missing items on Site Plan application noted as 

well. 
 

Jerry Iverson comments regarding concerns against proposed Campground. 

Scott Bordeau comments regarding concerns against proposed Campground. 

c. Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the following purpose:  to allow a storage 

rental building on the property address of 620 State HWY 13, owned by Gillette Holdings, LLC, located in 

the SW1/4, NE1/4, Section 32, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel 



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

number of 030-01035-0000 

 

Joe Eichsteadt present to comment on the Conditional Use Permit on behalf of Gillete Holdings/Tri-Lakes Storage. 

States there is existing building and plans to install 4 buildings within the proximity of the existing 5 buildings that are 

already on the site. Buildings A & B are in the planning stages and they are evaluating when they will be pursued. 

Buildings C & D to be pursued this summer. Vegetative screening and buffer space discussed. Lighting to be for 

security purposes. Materials to be consistent with current buildings already constructed. Wetlands also commented 

on and noted that they are preserved.  

d. Consideration of a site plan/plan of operation for Gillette Holdings, LLC for the property address of 620 

State HWY 13, located in the SW1/4, NE1/4, Section 32, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams 

County, WI with a parcel number of 030-01035-0000 

 

Read in…No additional discussion or comments.  

e. Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the following purpose:  the short-term rental 

at the property located at 620 17th Drive, owned by David Mehring d/b/a Mehring Vacation Properties, 

also described as Lot 80 of Westwind Shores, located in the NW1/4, NW1/4, Section 34, Town 20N, Range 

05E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel number of 030-01826-0879 

 

Property owner Dave Mehring present to comment on the Conditional Use Permit. Applicant states there has been no 

fire door installed at this time and that the garage will not have any type of motor vehicle parking. He states there 

would be a bolt and a rail on the side of the garage that can’t be opened. He states there is no intent to turn into 

living space at this time. Commissioner Gabriel questions location of property manager being within 25 miles. 

 

f. Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the following purpose:  the short-term rental 

at the property located at 342 Kings Herald Ct., owned by Stacey and Mitch Petersen, also described as 

Lot 22 of Kings Herald Addition to Lake Sherwood, located in the SW1/4, NE1/4, Section 16, Town 20N, 

Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel number of 030-02103-0000 

 

Property owners Mitch and Stacey Peterson present to comment regarding Conditional Use Permit. Applicant 

questions the occupancy; explanation that occupancy is based on total livable space and total square footage. 

Chairman questions if the landing has been taken care of/up to building code design. Applicant states there is a 

cement slab installed at the base of the steps. Discussion regarding the letter from CSO (Officer Aldrich) and citation 

given. Citation has been satisfied.  

 

8. Close Public Hearing 

 

Motion by Wiessinger/Djumadi to close the public hearing. Motion carried. 

DISCUSS AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING ITEMS: 

9. Discussion and possible action - Meeting minutes from Tuesday, February 13, 2024 and Wednesday, 

February 21, 2024. 

 

Motion by Wiessinger/Janczak to approve the meeting minutes from February 13th and February 21st. Motion carried. 

Motion amended to change of language in the minutes to indicate that the “steep boat launch belongs to the 

Wisconsin River Power Company” Motion amendment and second accepted. 

 

10. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board - Consideration of a revised site plan/plan of 

operation for Heartland Custom Homes, Inc. to adjust building orientation, and occupy tenant at the 

property address of 1144 CTH D, also described as Lot 1 CSM 6905, located in the SW1/4 of the NE1/4, 

Section 08, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-00637-

0020 

 

Motion by Wiessinger/Djumadi(for discussion) to recommend to the Town Board consideration of the revised Site Plan 

and Plan of Operation for Heartland Custom Homes Inc. and accept the Findings of Fact.  
 

Discussion as follows: 

Commissioner Djumadi states that she believes there should be additional Findings of Fact. Commissioner Gabriel has 

concerns of parking lot layout and landscaping. 
 

Attorney Flanagan reads the following to summarize the discussion of the proposed conditions: 



 

Page 4 of 5 
 

(1) Any proposed tenant must come back for plan commission approval including the design plan of building interior 

and plan of operation. 

(2)Refuse containers shall be provided for any additional tenant. 

(3)Exterior lighting, landscaping plan and parking go before the Town Board. 

(4)Signage plan come back to the Plan Commission for approval at the sign permit.  
 

Wiessinger/Djumadi to approve the Findings of Fact as well as the conditions that were stated by Town Attorney 

Flanagan. Motion carried. 

 

11. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board - Consideration of a site plan/plan of 

operation for Barnum Bay Beach and Marina, LLC for the property located on Archer Ln., also described as 

Lot 1 CSM 4670, located in Government Lot 2 of Section 28, Town 20N, Range 05E, Town of Rome, Adams 

County, WI with a parcel number of 030-00408-0015 

 

Discussion to deny the Site Plan for the following reasons and bring back for additional review once conditions are 

completed:  

List of corrections needed: 
Correct all documents and maps as needed to show all required information from the Conditional Use Permit Condition(s) 
and/or correct inaccuracies 
Re-submit a fully completed Site Plan & Plan of Operation Checklist document with updated information. 
Campground Map should depict all items that are shown on the map in a key (i.e. landscaping key) 
Landscaping List should be provided for all types of plantings 
Campground Map should depict trees in setback areas (including Lot 1 area as screening) 
Landscaping plan should meet species requirement in Design Plan requirements  
Plans (Floor plan & architectural rendering) for office/shower house is needed and needs to comply with B-1 (height, 
width) requirements (i.e. 24’x24’) and Design Plan building standards  
Septic location and size must be depicted on map 
Sanitary Sewer – All campsites should be full hookups 
Update stormwater map depictng all relevant loca5ons of stormwater areas and include approvals from Adams County & 
DNR 
Provide updated exterior lighting plan and parking plan on Include plans for handling overflow parking & Both plans must 
meet the Design Plan requirements in B1 District 
Sign plan/permit application should be submitted 

 

Motion by Gabriel/Wiessinger to deny the Site Plan and Plan of Operation and when the conditions are completed 

that have been mentioned are corrected, that they come back to the Planning Commission for an additional review. 

Roll call vote. Kappel: Yes. Djumadi: Yes. Baker: Yes. Janczak: Yes. Gabriel: Yes. Wiessinger: Yes. Motion carries. 

12. Discussion and possible action - Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the following 

purpose:  to allow a storage rental building on the property address of 620 State HWY 13, owned by Gillette 

Holdings, LLC, located in the SW1/4, NE1/4, Section 32, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams 

County, WI with a parcel number of 030-01035-0000 

 

Motion by Wiessinger/Djumadi to approve the Conditional Use Permit with the Findings of Fact. Discussion on length of 

Terms. Motion carried. 

 

13. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board - Consideration of a site plan/plan of 

operation for Gillette Holdings, LLC for the property address of 620 State HWY 13, located in the SW1/4, 

NE1/4, Section 32, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel number of 030-

01035-0000 

 

Motion by Gabriel/Wiessinger to recommend to the Town Board approval of the Site Plan and Plan of Operation for 

620 State Highway 13 the accepting the Findings of Fact with the conditions that buildings C and D be approved, and 

that their buildings A and B have to be constructed within the next two years or they have to come back to this 

Planning Commission for an additional Site Plan and Plan of Operation approval. Motion is approved/carried with 

Commissioner Djumadi dissenting.  

 



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

14. Discussion and possible action - Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the following 

purpose:  the short-term rental at the property located at 620 17th Drive, owned by David Mehring d/b/a 

Mehring Vacation Properties, also described as Lot 80 of Westwind Shores, located in the NW1/4, NW1/4, 

Section 34, Town 20N, Range 05E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel number of 030-01826-

0879 

Motion by Janczak/Wiessinger to approve the Conditional Use Permit with the following conditions: That it is not used 

for any type of motor vehicle parking or storage in the garage, and that if the fire door is replaced, it gets re-

inspected. That if it’s ever considered for human habitation, they come back to the Planning Commission and that Mr. 

Mehring or his brother have to be in a 25-mile radius when the property is rented. Motion carried. 

15. Discussion and possible action - Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the following 

purpose:  the short-term rental at the property located at 342 Kings Herald Ct., owned by Stacey and Mitch 

Petersen, also described as Lot 22 of Kings Herald Addition to Lake Sherwood, located in the SW1/4, NE1/4, 

Section 16, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel number of 030-02103-

0000 

 

Motion by Baker/Kappel to approve the Conditional Use Permit for 342 Kings Herald Court accepting the findings of 

Fact and that this would be only good, the conditions permit, only valid until June 1st or it would be made indefinitely if 

the applicant provides proof that the landing mentioned by the building inspector has been corrected. Commissioner 

Gabriel asks that the 2 letters that were sent by concerned citizens of neighboring properties be added to the file. No 

further discussion. Motion carries, with Commissioner Gabriel dissenting.  

 

DATES AND ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDA/MEETINGS 

16. Next agenda items: 

 

*Barnum Beach and Marina LLC 

*1 Short-Term rental noted 

*Commissioner Wiessinger suggests to establish policy for support documentation being turned in 48 or 72 hours 

before the Plan Commission Meeting or it cannot be reviewed. (emails, letters, petitions, etc.) Discussion on when 

items should be accepted in order for review by Plan Commission. 

*Zoning Map Amendment of R-2 to an R-4 

*Sand Valley Preliminary Plat  
 

17. Next meeting date and time: April 9, 2024 at 4:00 p.m.  

 

ADJOURMENT 
             Chairman Baker adjourned the meeting at 6:20 p.m. 

 

“Speak Your Peace” Commitment – A reminder that the Town Board Members have adopted the Nine Tools of Civility which 

commits the Board Members and Public to be mindful of how we treat each other at meetings. 

 

Notification of this meeting has been posted in accordance with the Open Meeting Laws of the State of Wisconsin. 

 

The Plan Commission may take action on any item on the agenda. It is possible that the members of and possibly a quorum of 

members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above-stated meeting to gather 

information; no action will be taken by any governmental body at the above-stated meeting other than the Plan Commission. 
 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Taylor Owczynsky 

Taylor Owczynsky 

Zoning Administrative Assistant Support Specialist 

 

 



         
  
      
 

    
 

Plan Commission  
Zoning and Building Department Staff Report 

 
Item 10 
Heartland Custom Homes, Inc. received approval for a revision to their Site Plan/Plan of Operation for the 
property located at 1144 CTH D on March 21, 2024.  As part of the recommendation from the Plan 
Commission in consideration of the request for revised Site Plan/Plan of Operation, Applicant was to provide 
the Town Board with an exterior lighting plan, landscaping plan and parking plan approval for consideration 
and approval.  As a condition to its approval on March 21, 2024, the Town Board revised that condition to 
require that the exterior lighting plan, landscaping plan, parking plan and signage plan all be reviewed and 
approved by the Plan Commission.  An updated Site Plan map with the aforementioned supplemental plans 
(parking, lighting, landscaping) are provided in your packet for review.  For reference, the revised findings of 
fact with conditions are also included in your packet.   
 
Item 11 
At its meeting on March 7, 2024, the Town of Rome Community Development Authority approved 
procurement and placement of an off-premise directional sign for Rome Town Center.  The Town would like to 
place the sign at the intersection of Alpine Drive and Geneva Trail.  This area falls within the Gateway Overlay 
District and is a placement within Road Right-of-Way.  With limited exceptions, the Town’s sign ordinance 
provisions hold for time limitations for signs placed in the road right-of-way (§ 320-20).  That said, there is a 
special exception allowed for certain circumstances, including signs for entities of federal, state and Town 
government, subject to review and approval of the Town Board, upon recommendation from the Plan 
Commission (§ 360-124).  A copy of the Sign Permit Application and sign proposal (including design, 
dimensions, and placement location) are included in your packet for review. 
 
Item 7a & 12 
Applicant Kent Schneider (KMC Tucks, LLC) d/b/a Cal’s Corner. requests approval for a Site Plan/Plan of 
Operation for the property located at 382 State Road 13.  Applicant purchased the former Friar Tuck’s 
establishment in 2022.  Because it was a continuation of existing development with no expansion, a new Site 
Plan/Plan of Operation was not required at that time. Applicant is now proposing an expansion to the business 
to construct a seating area/addition to the west of the building.  Note, due to the setback measurement area off 
the platted corner for the STH 13 vision triangle at the intersection of W. Queens Way & STH 13, a variance to 
reduce the side yard setback was required to construct the proposed addition.  The Board of Zoning Appeals 
approved the area variance at its meeting on March 14, 2024.  Included in your packet materials is a Site Plan 
and Plan of Operation Application, Checklist, and associated renderings/maps.   Letters were sent to 10 property 
owners within 200’ of the affected property.   
 
Item 7b & 13 
Applicants Brian Shaurette and Tanya Johnson are requesting an amendment in zoning from R-4 (Rural 
Residence District) to R-2 (One- and Two-Family and Manufactured Dwelling Residence District) for a portion 
of parcel 030-00747-0010.  Currently, parcel 030-00747-0010 is 23.29-acres in size and zoned R-4.  The parcel 
has an approximately .5-acre section located in the SW1/4 of the SW1/4 of Section 12, with the remainder of 
the parcel being within the NW1/4 of the NW1/4 of Section 13.  Applicants own parcel 030-01520-0010, 
currently 1-acre in size and located directly to the North of the subject parcel in Section 12.  Applicants are in 
the process of purchasing the .5-acre portion of 030-00747-0010 and wish to combine it with their 1-acre lot to 
create a 1.5-acre parcel.  A proposed CSM is attached in your packet showing the proposed land 

Town of Rome 
Nekoosa, WI 54457 
www.romewi.com 

http://www.romewi.com/


division/combination.  Since the creation of a split-zoning condition is not permissible, there needs to be a 
rezoning of the .5-acre parcel to create a common zoning with the 1-acre parcel’s R-2 zoning.  Note, the 
Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map (included in your packet) for the 23.29-acre parcel has the portion 
in Section 12 under consideration noted as Residential, with the remaining portion in Section 13 as Forestry.  
Therefore, rezoning this .5-acre portion would be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use 
Map.  Letters were sent to 7 property owners within 200’ of the affected property.  Also included in your packet 
is consent from the current property owner of 030-00747-0010 to rezone the .5-acre portion of the property. 
 
Item 7c & 14 
Recently, concerns have been raised related to event tent/canopy usage by local businesses and applicability to 
Town of Rome Zoning Code regulations- specifically under Section 360-10(D).  In February, 2023, the Town 
of Rome updated Section 360-10(D) after consideration and a recommendation from the Joint Plan 
Commission/CDA Subcommittee as it related to accessory structures in residential districts.  At that time, the 
focus was to clarify certain accessory structures commonly seen in residential districts (i.e. gazebos, pergolas), 
which were not specifically noted as permitted prior to construction of a principal structure.  Additionally, the 
Subcommittee had reviewed carport regulations (the Canopy definition at that time included “ports”).  Included 
in your packet are relevant minutes from those meetings.  At that time, with a focus on residential districts, 
section 360-10(D)(3)(b) was removed, with the intention of its applicability to residential districts and 
permanent canopy/tents as well as carports.  The section which was removed read:  
 “Use in other areas. In all areas other than those listed in Subsection D(3)(a) above [Lake District and 

Recorded Subdivisions], canopies that meet the criteria of an accessory use pursuant to this section may be 
erected upon issuance of a permit. Canopies with roofs constructed of a rigid material require the issuance 
of a building permit, and the roof must meet the snow load requirements of the Wisconsin Uniform 
Dwelling Code. Canopies with roofs constructed of a nonrigid material require the issuance of a zoning 
permit. The location of any canopy permitted under this subsection must comply with all setback 
requirements for structures in the applicable zoning district.”  

Since that time, no enforcement action had been taken on Business (B-1) properties who had erected event 
tent/canopy structures on a more permanent basis, because the Zoning Administrator at that time understood 
those regulations not to apply to business use, provided placement was consistent with setbacks and applicable 
regulations such as noise and event gathering requirements were met.  Since that time, as complaints were 
submitted recently, the Town no longer had references to allowed permanent canopy/tents, and therefore 
applied the temporary requirements under 360-10(D)(1).  Since the February 2023 amendment to the 
aforementioned Zoning Code provisions clearly were intended to address residential districts, the recommended 
consideration is to build the removed verbiage back into the ordinance, and specify its applicability to 
Commercial use in the B-1 Districts.  Proposed language is included in your packet.  Please note that after 
consultation with the Building Inspector, it was recommended to require canopies with a floor area greater than 
120 sq. ft. obtain a building permit.  This recommendation comes from the International Building Code (IBC) 
Section 105.2 which lists work exempt from a permit as accessory structures not greater than 120 sq. ft.  This 
would be an alternative to referencing “rigid material” roof construction requiring issuance of a building permit.  
Additionally, recommended language would reference applicability to Town Code 191-13 (safe practices with 
large crowd assemblies).  Finally, for clarity, it is recommended to update Zoning Ordinance Definitions to 
reference Tent applicability to Canopy definitions, which already broadly describes event tents. 
 
Item 7d & 15 
John and Christie Hotz have submitted a Short-Term Rental (STR) license application and Conditional Use 
Permit for the property located at 967 Mansfield Ct., requesting use for the 2023/2024 season that ends on June 
30, 2024. Letters were sent to 9 property owners within 200’ of the affected property. The Plan Commission 
places conditions on CUPs issued for STRs that will set maximum occupancy and maximum number of 
vehicles allowed on the property based on the standards found in Town Code, Chapter 234-61. Staff 
recommend a maximum occupancy of 5 and maximum vehicles of 3 to be parked on hard surfaces, not on the 



Positively applying the tools of government to serve and protect our people,  
strengthen our community and promote prosperity. 

lawn/grass, at the property.  The applicant has completed all license requirements including a property manager 
within 25 miles on record with the Town.  
 
Item 7e & 16 
Applicant Sedge Village, LLC has submitted a Preliminary Plat for Sedge Village South Subdivision.  The 
proposed 29.16-acre subdivision is located partially (Lots 26, 27 and 28) within Sedge Village Subdivision, as 
well as a portion of adjacent quarter-quarter sections of Section 26.  Eleven lots are proposed in the Plat, with 
lot sizes ranging from 1.04 ac. to 7.59 ac.  Private roadways serve the proposed Subdivision, extending from 
Luna Lane (previously platted as part of Sedge Village Subdivision and noted as under construction).  Included 
in your packet materials is the proposed Preliminary Plat with accompanying Preliminary Plat Application, 
Property limits map with noted current property owners, NRCS Soil Report, Site Plans, Utility and Stormwater 
Management Summary, Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements, and Legal 
Description.  Staff reviewed the initial Preliminary Plat submission based on the standards found in Town Code 
Chapter 326-14 (Subdivision Procedure) and provided feedback to developer.  One noted item for additional 
updating is the need for cul-de-sac at the termini of each road off Luna Ln., to allow for adequate turn-around of 
emergency vehicles, consistent with Town Ordinance requirements for all road construction in Ch. 320.  
Updates to the remaining items from the preliminary review have been made and reflected in your packet 
materials.  Letters were sent to 9 property owners within 200’ of the affected property.   
 
Item 17 
Applicant Barnum Bay Beach and Marina, LLC has submitted a Site Plan/Plan of Operation for operation of a 
Campground at the 6.38-acre parcel located on Archer Ln. (030-00408-0015).  At the February 21, 2024 
meeting, the Plan Commission approved Applicant’s Conditional Use Permit, with 14 conditions.  At the March 
12, 2024 Plan Commission meeting, the Site Plan/Plan of Operation was tabled pending additional needed 
updates.  A summary list of those updates is included in your packet.  Town Code Article XXVI sets forth 
requirements for a Site Plan and Plan of Operation for new business development, and associated development 
and design standards.  Additionally, under Town Code Sec. 247-4, a Campground License must be obtained 
from the Town, and Campground Permit issued from Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional 
Services (Wis. Stat. 97.67).  Included in your packet materials is a proposed updated Campground Map, Site 
Plan and Plan of Operation Checklist, Sign Permit, Driveway Permit and Septic Map.   



































 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 

1) A full and complete application was filed by KMC Tucks, LLC, d/b/a Cal’s Corner, and received 
February 20, 2024 (herein referred to as "Application") seeking approval of a Site Plan & Plan of 
Operation Review for the property at 382 State Highway 13, located in the SW1/4, SE1/4, 
Section 17, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI with a parcel number of 
030-01951-0000. 

2) The Site Plan & Plan of Operation Review is to allow for construction of a seating area/addition 
at the property. 

3) The property is zoned B-1 Business District, as defined in Chapter 360 of the Town Code. 
4) The Town of Rome Planning Commission duly set this matter upon the agenda of a public 

meeting and considered the above-described application with the public hearing a matter of 
record of the Planning Commission meeting of April 9, 2024. 

5) At the public hearing on the Application held by the Town of Rome Plan Commission on April 
9, 2024, evidence and testimony was presented by the Applicant, and all interested persons were 
allowed an opportunity to speak, a full and complete record of which will be detailed in the 
minutes of the Plan Commission. 

6) At the conclusion of the public hearing, after consideration and discussion of the application, 
public comments, and the report received by staff, the Planning Commission, upon a motion duly 
seconded, approved the request for the Site Plan & Plan of Operation, and the following findings 
were found by the Plan Commission: 

a. The Site Plan & Plan of Operation conforms with the standards of the applicable district 
in which it is located. 

b. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the proposed seating area/addition and 
use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety or general welfare of 
the occupants of surrounding lands. 

 
The Town of Rome Plan Commission hereby recommends approval of the Site Plan & Plan of 
Operation request submitted by KMC Tucks, LLC, d/b/a Cal’s Corner, to allow for the construction of a 
seating area/addition at parcel# 030-01951-0000. The following additional conditions were placed on 
the approval: (if applicable): 

a. _______________________________________________________________________ 

b. _______________________________________________________________________ 

c. _______________________________________________________________________ 

d. _______________________________________________________________________ 

 
______________________________  __________________________  
Planning Commission Chair       Date   
 
______________________________  __________________________ 
Planning Commission Secretary      Date 
 
 
Signature of Owner/Applicant: _____________________________         Date: ____________________ 
 
Signature of Owner/Applicant: _____________________________         Date: ____________________ 
Note: if Owner is other than Applicant and is unable to sign, please attach written authorization from Owner allowing Applicant to sign on 
their behalf 









76

�

�
�

�









 
Wisconsin Department of Safety and Professional Services  Phone: 608-266-2112 
Division of Industry Services Web: http://dsps.wi.gov 
4822 Madison Yards Way Email: dsps@wisconsin.gov 
PO Box 7302  
Madison, WI 53707 Tony Evers, Governor 
 Dan Hereth, Secretary 
 
 

 

 
3/27/2024 
 

 
CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 
 
PLAN APPROVAL EXPIRES: 03/27/2026 
CODE APPLIES: 11/07/2023 
 
MUNICIPALITY: 
TOWN OF ROME 
ADAMS COUNTY 
 
SITE: 
CAL'S CORNER 
382 ST HWY 13 S 
NEKOOSA, WI 54457 
 
FOR: 
382 ST HWY 13 S  
 
 

   

 
SITE REQUIREMENTS 

• Contact both the State Inspector and the local municipality PRIOR to the start of construction. 
• A full size copy of the approved plans, specifications and this letter shall be on-site during construction and open to inspection 

by authorized representatives of the Department, which may include local inspectors.  If plan index sheets were submitted in 
lieu of additional full plan sets, a copy of this approval letter and index sheet shall be attached to plans that correspond with the 
copy on file with the Department.  If these plans were submitted in an electronic form, the designer is responsible to download, 
print, and bind the full size set of plans along with our approval letter.  A Department electronic stamp and signature shall be on 
the plans which are used at the job site for construction. 

 

Identification Numbers 
Plan Review No.: CB-032400409-PRB 
Application No.: DIS-112348024 
Site ID No.: SIT-123765 
Please refer to all identification numbers in each 
correspondence with the Department. 

JAMES LUCAS 
ARC CENTRAL LLC 
1930 1ST STREET N 
WISCONSIN RAPIDS, WISCONSIN 54494 

Building Name: Cal's Corner 
Object Type: Building 
Major Occupancy: A-2 - Dining & Drinking Assembly 
Class of Construction: VB - Combustible Unprotected Construction 
Building Review Type: Addition 
Plan Type: Full/Complete Building 
Total Floor Area in Sq Ft: 1,540   
Sprinklered Type: None  
Additional Occupancy: R-3 - Rowhouse & Incidental Residential 
Allowable Area Determined By: Separated Use 
Structural Components Included in Review: None 
Alteration Level: None 
 

http://dsps.wi.gov/
mailto:dsps@wisconsin.gov


 

 

The following conditions shall be met during construction or installation and prior to occupancy or use: 
 
SUBMIT: 

• SPS 361.30(3) - This approval does not include heating, ventilating or air conditioning.  The owner should be reminded that 
HVAC plans, calculations, and appropriate fees are required to be submitted for review and approval prior to installation in 
the field.  The HVAC plans shall be submitted on the DSPS website.  Building Designer should coordinate with HVAC 
design to avoid problems with clearance to combustibles, dampers etc. The submitted HVAC plans and calculations shall 
match the approved building plans. Building Designer is requested to provide a complete set of plans, Energy Calculations 
and the Building plan review Transaction I.D. number to the HVAC Designer to help coordinate review.  Note as per SPS 
302.10 installation of HVAC without approved plans could result in double plan review fees. 

• SPS 361.30(3) - Submit, prior to installation, one set of properly signed and sealed truss plans, calculations substantiating the 
design, and associated pertinent information including this transaction number or CB number as a previous transaction. A 
truss plan submittal may be made on the DSPS website. Note as per SPS 302.31(1)(d)4. the fee for a structural component 
submitted after installation shall be an additional $250 plus a $100 submittal fee. 

• SPS 361.30(3) - It has been determined that this building may include 16 or more plumbing fixtures or other fixtures or 
systems requiring review, thus plumbing plans may need to be submitted and approved prior to installation. Review Tables 
SPS 382.20-1 & 2 for specifics on plumbing plan submittal.  You may contact any general plumbing plan reviewer at:  1-608-
267-9421 or DspsSbPlbgTech@wi.gov 

KEY ITEM(S): 

• IBC 903.2.1.2/SPS 362.0903(2) - Provide an automatic fire sprinkler system throughout a Group A-2 fire area and intervening 
floors where the fire area exceeds 5,000 sq. ft., or the fire area has an occupant load of 100 or more, or the fire area is located 
on a floor other than a level of exit discharge serving such occupancies.  As a sprinkler system has not been provided the 
occupant load of the bar and dining room space shall not exceed 99 people at any one time. 

• IBC 1609.1.1 - Wind loads shall be determined per chapters 26 to 30 of ASCE 7.  The submitted calculations do not present a 
complete wind load analysis and design.  The building designer shall verify complete design of the main wind force resisting 
system including analysis and design of wind load transfer and resistance at the west end of the existing 2 story portion of the 
building where the existing second story exterior wall is completely supported on an existing beam to support gravity loads 
but no information regarding the existing lateral load resisting system (portal/moment frame?), its capacity, or transfer of 
those lateral loads to other lateral load resisting elements either existing or new has been provided.  All gypsum board and 
wood structural panel shearwalls shall be blocked.   

• IBC 1603.1.3/SPS 362.1603(1) - The ground snow load Pg shall be indicated. In areas where the ground snow load Pg, 
exceeds 10 pounds per square foot, the following additional information shall also be provided, regardless of whether snow 
loads govern the design of the roof:  flat-roof snow load Pf; snow exposure factor Ce; snow load importance factor I from risk 
category; thermal factor Ct; any sloped-roof snow load, Ps; and any unbalanced, drift or sliding snow loads. These shall all be 
indicated on the construction documents for location and distribution.  The plans indicate an 80 psf drift load but do not 
adequately convey the extent and distribution of the drift load (or provide calculation for determination of the drift load) and 
do not reflect the required drift load on the lower roof at the west end of the existing two story building.   

ALSO ADDRESS: 

• IBC 1008.3.2 - When power supply failure occurs, an emergency electrical system shall automatically illuminate means of 
egress in interior rooms and spaces, exit access stairs and ramps; interior and exterior exit stairs and ramps; exit passageways; 
vestibules and areas used for exit discharge; and exterior landings at exit doorways. 

REMINDERS: 

• ICC/ANSI A117.1 Sec. 604.9 - Wheelchair accessible toilet compartments shall be a minimum 60 inches wide from the side 
wall, and minimum 56 inches long from the back wall for a wall hung water closet and 59 inches long for a floor mounted 
water closet. Doors may not swing into the required minimum compartment size, and shall comply with Section 604.9.3.  Toe 
clearance at the toilet compartments shall be provided per ANSI A117.1 s. 604.9.5.1.    

• IBC 1004.3 - Every room or space that is an assembly occupancy shall have the occupant load of the room or space posted in 
a conspicuous place, near the main exit or exit access doorway from the room or space.  Posted signs shall be of an approved 
legible permanent design and shall be maintained by the owner or owner's authorized agent.  The occupant load shall be 
posted for a maximum of 99 people at any one time.  

 
The submittal described above has been reviewed for conformance with applicable Wisconsin Administrative Codes and Wisconsin 
Statutes.  The submittal has been CONDITIONALLY APPROVED.  The owner, as defined in chapter 101.01(10), Wisconsin 



 

 

Statutes, is responsible for compliance with all code requirements.  Only those object types listed above have been approved; other 
submittals such as plumbing and those listed above under REQUIRED SUBMITTAL(S), may also be required. 

All permits required by the state or the local municipality shall be obtained prior to commencement of 
construction/installation/operation.  You are responsible for complying with state and federal laws concerning construction near or on 
wetlands, lakes, and streams. 

This plan has not been reviewed for compliance with fire code requirements, including those for fire lanes and fire protection water 
supply, so contact the local fire department for further information. 

In granting this approval, the Division of Industry Services reserves the right to require changes or additions, should conditions arise 
making them necessary for code compliance.  As per state stats 101.12(2), nothing in this review shall relieve the designer of the 
responsibility for designing a safe building, structure, or component.  The Division does not take responsibility for the design or 
construction of the reviewed items. 

Per s. SPS 361.40(4), projects for buildings of over 50,000 cubic feet total volume shall have supervising professionals who file 
compliance statements with this agency and the local code officials prior to occupancy of the project.  Compliance statements shall be 
filed online at https://esla.wi.gov/PortalCommunityLogin.  

Inquiries concerning this correspondence may be made to me at the contact information listed below, or at the address on this 
letterhead. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Steve Dobratz, PE 
Consultant Building Systems 
Division of Industry Services 
Phone: 920 492 2214 
Email: steve.dobratz@wisconsin.gov 
 
cc: 
 

 

MELISSA RHODES, MUNICIPAL CLERK, 7153258035, RHODES@ROMEWI.COM 
KENT SCHNEIDER, CAL'S CORNER 

https://esla.wi.gov/PortalCommunityLogin




FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 

1) A full and complete application for a Zoning Map amendment, together with established 
fee, was filed by Brian Shaurette and Tanya Johnson, and received March 8, 2024 (herein 
referred to as “Application”) seeking a Zoning Map amendment for a .5-acre portion of  
parcel # 030-00747-0010, legally described as: 

a. 030-00747-0010- that portion located in the SW1/4- SW1/4, Section 12, T20N, 
Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI.  Total Area .5-Acres. 

2) The property herein is currently zoned R-4 (Rural Residence District), as defined in 
Chapter 360 of the Town of Rome’s Ordinance. 

3) The Proposed classification change is to R-2 (One- and Two-Family and Manufactured 
Dwelling Residence District) in the Town’s Zoning Ordinance for the purpose of 
combining the .5-acre portion of 030-00747-0010 with parcel 030-01520-0010. 

4) A public hearing was held by the Town of Rome Plan Commission on April 9, 2024 on 
the Application, allowing all interested persons an opportunity to speak, a full and 
complete record of which will be detailed in the minutes of the Plan Commission. 

5) The proposed Zoning Map amendment conforms to the purpose, intent, spirit and 
regulations of the Zoning Ordinance because the zoning amendment would prevent split-
zoning of a parcel if combined with parcel 030-01520-0010, and the resulting larger lot 
size of 030-01520-0010 would provide for a less-dense residential development, while 
providing a transition to more rural-zoned areas, promoting compatibility with 
surrounding land uses. 

 
The Town of Rome Plan Commission hereby recommends approval of the Zoning Map 
Amendment request submitted by Brian Shaurette and Tanya Johnson for a .5-acre portion of  
parcel # 030-00747-0010 for the purpose of combining the .5-acre portion of 030-00747-0010 
with parcel 030-01520-0010, with the following conditions: 

a. _______________________________________________________________________ 

b. _______________________________________________________________________ 

c. _______________________________________________________________________ 

d. _______________________________________________________________________ 

 
______________________________  __________________________  
Planning Commission Chair       Date   
 
______________________________  __________________________ 
Planning Commission Secretary      Date 
 
        









From: Mike Irwin <dcmlandscaping@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, March 26, 2024 7:15 AM 
To: Taylor Owczynsky <owczynsky@romewi.com> 
Subject: RE: PeJJon for Zoning Map Amendment 
  
I give permission to rezone the property of .5 acre to  Brian and his wife to purchase. Once 
approved we will have the Jtle company take care of it gePng it ready to register. Please 
proceed for approval on the 9th of April. Sincerely Mike and Amanda Irwin 
Yahoo Mail: Search, Organize, Conquer 
  
 





Chapter 360, Zoning 
Article III, General Regulations  
 
§ 360-10 Accessory uses and structures. 
A. Accessory buildings, structures and uses shall be compatible with the principal uses and shall not be 

established prior to the principal use, except that sheds of 150 square feet or less with a maximum height 
of 10 feet and a maximum roof overhang of 16 inches, and unroofed decks not exceeding 400 square 
feet in size, are permitted in any district before the principal structure is present. Permitted sheds erected 
before the principal structure is present shall not be used as a place of human habitation. 
Mobile/manufactured homes, campers, truck bodies or trailers, buses and similar items are prohibited 
for use as accessory buildings. All accessory buildings and structures shall be maintained structurally 
and kept in good repair. Outside appearance shall be maintained so as not to become a nuisance to the 
neighborhood. [Amended 2-16-2023 by Ord. No. 23-03] 

B. The following items and structures are not permitted in nonagricultural zoning districts prior to 
construction of a principal structure: gazebos exceeding 150 square feet in area, pergolas, satellite dishes 
larger than 36 inches in size, fuel tanks, except LP tanks not exceeding 60 pounds that are part of the 
affixed and secured equipment of a camping unit, air conditioners, antennas, towers, exterior heating 
systems or similar appurtenances or equipment. [Amended 2-16-2023 by Ord. No. 23-03] 

C. Outdoor fuel burners, including wood stoves, used as an interior heating system are not allowed in the 
Lake District or in any residential subdivision in which the average parcel size is two acres or less. 

D. Canopies. [Amended 2-16-2023 by Ord. No. 23-03] 

(1) Temporary use. In all districts, a canopy may be erected on a temporary (10 consecutive days or less) 
basis for family gatherings, rummage sales, special events and similar occasions. In such case, a permit 
is not required and the canopy must be dismantled and removed upon conclusion of the temporary use; 
provided, however, that a canopy may not be erected on a property for more than 20 days in a calendar 
year. While erected, the location of the canopy must comply with all setback requirements for structures 
in the applicable zoning district. 

(2) Permanent use. Canopies may only be erected on a permanent basis pursuant to the following 
requirements:  

(a) Lake District and recorded residential subdivisions. In the Lake District and any recorded residential 
subdivision, canopies may only be used atop a boat lift that is located at least partially in a body of 
water, provided that the canopy roof is made of a nonrigid material. Canopy roofs may not be 
constructed of wood, fiberglass, metal or any other rigid material. 

(b) Business District. In the Business (B-1) District, canopies that meet the criteria of an accessory use 
pursuant to this section may be erected upon issuance of a permit. Canopies with a floor area 120 sq. ft. 
or less require the issuance of a zoning permit. Canopies with a floor area greater than 120 sq. ft. shall 
require a building permit and zoning permit.  Canopies used for events, exhibitions or assembly shall 
comply with the standards for recognized safe practices within § 191-13.  The location of any canopy 
permitted under this subsection must comply with all setback requirements for structures in the 
applicable zoning district. 

E. Freestanding and detached carports are not permitted in any zoning district. [Added 2-16-2023 by Ord. 
No. 23-03] 

 



Page 1 of 5 
 

       
      
 

    
 

MINUTES 
TOWN OF ROME PLAN COMMISSION PUBLIC HEARING  

AND REGULAR MEETING 
 
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 14, 2023          4:00 PM        ROME MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
         1156 Alpine Drive 

         Nekoosa, WI  54457 
1. Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Mike Baker at 4:00 p.m. 
 

2. Roll Call 
Plan Commissioners present:  Mike Baker, Daniel Gohmann, Jerry Wiessinger, Paul Janczak, Diana 
Duelge and Lori Djumadi.  Commissioner Jeffrey Williams was excused.  Also present:  Attorney 
Nicholas Flanagan, Town Administrator Jami Gebert and Zoning Administrator Emily Zeddies. 
Nicholas Vilione and Robert Cook regarding items 7a & 11; Kevin Cole (by telephone) regarding 
items 7d & 14.    
 

3. Certify Posting of Meeting 
Emily Zeddies certified the agenda was posted at the following locations: 

 
Rome Municipal Building at 4:20 p.m. on January 31, 2023 
Kwik Trip at 4:25 p.m. on January 31, 2023 
Nekoosa Port Edwards State Bank at 4:29 p.m. January 31, 2023 
The agenda was emailed to the Wisconsin Rapids Daily Tribune on January 31, 2023 at 1:42 p.m. 
The agenda was emailed to Town web services on January 31, 2023 at 2:26 p.m. 
The public hearing notice was printed in the Wisconsin Rapids Daily Tribune for publication in the 
legal section on January 31 and February 7, 2023. 
 

4. Approve the Agenda 
Motion by Wiessinger/Janczak to approve the agenda.  Motion carried. 
 

5. Citizen Comments – During the Citizen Comment period of the agenda the Plan Commission 
welcomes comments from any town resident, not a member of the Commission, on any item not on 
the agenda. Please know that pursuant to State law the Commission cannot engage in 
conversation with you but may ask questions. The Commission may refer the item to staff, a standing 
committee or a future Plan Commission agenda for discussion and action. Each person wishing to 
speak will have up to 3 minutes to speak. Speakers are asked to submit a card to the Chair 
providing their name, address and topic for discussion 

a. The Commission will also take comment from the public on agenda items as called by the 
Chair, but not during Citizen Comment. Please note that once the Commission begins 
discussion on an agenda item no further comment will be allowed from the public on that 
issue 

NO ACTION CONTEMPLATED EXCEPT POSSIBLE REFERRAL TO FUTURE AGENDA: 

6. Information Updates, Recent Correspondence, Current Events, Announcements. 
Chairman Baker announced the Lake Camelot Fisheree is being held on upper Camelot on 
Saturday, February 18th, from 10:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. 
 

 7. Open Public Hearing 
  There were 2 members of the public present. 

Town of Rome 
Nekoosa, WI 54457 
www.romewi.com 

http://www.romewi.com/


Page 2 of 5 
 

a. Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the following purpose: the short-
term rental at the property located at 1470 Raindance Tr, owned by VIC’s Arrowhead LLC, also 
described as lot 26 of White Eagle Addition to Lake Arrowhead, located in SE ¼, NW ¼, Section 
13, Town 20N, Range 05E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-04713-
0327 
Nicholas Vilione and Robert Cook owners of VIC’s Arrowhead LLC were in attendance to answer 
any questions.  Stated that they purchased this property in 2019 and because their children are 
getting older, they don’t use the property as much.  They are requesting a Conditional Use 
Permit for a short-term rental. 
Questions from commissioners and public as follows: 
Q: Since this is a lakefront property, will renters have access to the use of a boat? 
A: No.  We do not want the liability of boat usage. 
Q: Do you have a property manager within the required 25 miles? 
A: We do not envision renting this property this spring, so we are in the process of acquiring a 
property manager and a cleaning service. 
Property owners were advised that a requirement of the Conditional Use Permit being approved 
is that a property manager needs to be in place before first rental occurs. 
No further questions from commissioners or public. 
 

b. Consideration of proposed amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), residential zoning district 
requirements regarding Roof Pitch 
Zoning Administrator Zeddies indicated that included in commissioners’ meeting packets is a list 
of communities with their roof pitch regulations and a comparison of different roof pitches.  The 
draft language for the roof pitch amendment would make all residential zoning districts 
consistent with a minimum 3/12 roof pitch. 
No further questions from commissioners or public. 
 

c. Consideration of proposed amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), residential zoning district 
requirements regarding Accessary Structures 
Zoning Administrator Zeddies indicated that included in commissioners’ meeting packets is 
updated draft language from the Joint CDA and Plan Commission Sub-committee as it pertains 
to Accessory Structures.  Also included, are picture descriptions for each accessory structure 
type. 
No further questions from commissioners or public. 
 

d. Consideration of a site plan/plan of operation for Kevin Cole, for the property located on CTH Z, 
also described as Lot 1 of CSM 6703 located in part of Gov Lot 2 and Gov Lot 7, Section 2, Town 
20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-000047-0085 
Zoning Administrator Zeddies stated this conditional use was originally approved in 2016 with the 
condition that Mr. Cole return to the Plan Commission with a more detailed site plan before the 
start of the project.  This business would fall under the conditional use “Campground” in B-1 
Business District.  Since 2016, there as been a number of land divisions, so the address has 
changed.  Included in commissioners’ meeting packets are the following documents: minutes 
from the July 12, 2016 meeting, a site plan and maps from the original application, required 
Adams County permits which include a Special Exemption Permit, Storm Water Runoff Permit, 
Sanitation Permit and a copy of the water testing that was provided to Adams County.  Adams 
County is waiting for the Town of Rome’s approval of the site plan/plan of operation before they 
add the Special Exemption Permit to their agenda for approval.   
The proposed campground will consist of four camping sites. 
Kevin Cole the property owner was in attendance by phone to answer any questions. 
Commissioner Wiessinger stated that he was under the impression that per Adams County any 
dredging of ponds would require the soil be removed from the area. 
Mr. Cole stated that he received approval to dredge the ponds back in 2015 and that 120 truck-
loads of soil were removed and deposited on the property north of Romano’s. 
Q: On your sanitation application, are all four camping sites going to share the same system? 

iMac27
Highlight



Page 3 of 5 
 

A: There will be two sanitation systems, with two campers on each system. 
Q: Have you been working with the State in regards to applying for a Campground License? 
A: No, I am waiting for Town Board approval before I go any further. 
Attorney Flanagan stated that per Town Ordinance the town cannot issue a campground 
license for which a permit has not been issued by the State of Wisconsin. 
Q: Do you have a plan in place regarding refuse control/disposal? 
A: Dumpsters are located on the south side of the driveway and will be picked up Adams 
County weekly. 
Q: Could we include the requirement for proper refuse disposal  as a condition of approval for 
the site plan/plan of operation? 
A: Per Attorney Flanagan, yes it can be added as a condition of approval. 
Q: The acreage on the town application is .649 acres on the county application it is .524 acres. 
Why is there a discrepancy in the acreage involved? 
A: There is a lot across the road on the lake side where we plan to have four boat slips, one for 
each campsite. 
Q: Is there a possibility to allow for seasonal campers that would be able to camp year-round? 
A: Yes.  We are looking to accommodate campers that are snow birds, 55 and older, looking to 
have their own little camping community. 
Q: With that being said, you do not plan on any type of age restriction. 
A: No 
Commissioner Baker indicated that Mr. Cole’s application had a photo of the proposed sign for 
the campground.  He wanted to make Mr. Cole aware that he is required to submit a sign 
permit application. 
No further questions from commissioners or public. 
 

8.  Close Public Hearing 
 Motion by Duelge/Gohmann to close the public hearing.  Motion carried. 

DISCUSS AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING ITEMS: 

9. Discussion and possible action - Meeting minutes from Tuesday, January 10, 2023 
Motion by Wiessinger/Gohmann to approve the minutes with the correction to Item #19, next 
meeting date: change 2022 to 2023.  Motion carried. 
 

10. Discussion and possible action – Joint Community Development Authority (CDA) and Plan 
Commission Sub-Committee meeting minutes from Tuesday, January 10, 2023  
Attorney Flanagan indicated that the minutes from the January 10th, 2023 meeting bring to an end 
the Joint Community Development Authority (CDA) and Plan Commission Sub-Committee. 
Motion by Baker/Gohmann to approve the minutes as printed.  Motion carried. 

11. Discussion and possible action - Consideration of the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit for the 
following purpose: the short-term rental at the property located at 1470 Rain Dance Tr, owned by 
VIC’s Arrowhead LLC, also described as lot 26 of White Eagle Addition to Lake Arrowhead, located 
in SE ¼, NW ¼, Section 13, Town 20N, Range 05E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI, with a parcel 
number of 030-04713-0327 
Motion by Gohmann/Wiessinger to grant the request for conditional use permit for short-term rental 
at the address of 1470 Rain Dance Tr and to approve the findings of fact.  The following term and 
conditions were placed on approval: 

a. The conditional use permit shall remain valid indefinitely provided the homeowner holds a 
short-term rental license from the Town of Rome. 

b. Maximum rental occupancy shall be set at twelve. 
c. Maximum number of vehicles shall be set at six.  Vehicles to be parked on hard surfaces, not 

on the lawn/grass, at the property. 
d. Property Manager within 25 miles of the property and contact information on file with the 

Town.  
Motion carried. 
 



Page 4 of 5 
 

12. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board – Consideration of proposed 
amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), residential zoning district requirements regarding Roof Pitch 
Motion by Wiessinger/Djumadi to recommend to the Town Board approval of the proposed 
amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning) to make all residential zoning districts consistent with a 
minimum 3/12 roof pitch. 
Motion carried. 
 

13. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board – Consideration of proposed 
amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), residential zoning district requirements regarding Accessary 
Structures 
Motion by Wiessinger/Gohmann to recommend to the Town Board approval of the proposed 
amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning) as it pertains to residential zoning district requirements 
regarding Accessory Structures. 
Motion carried. 
 

14. Discussion and possible recommendation to the Town Board – Consideration of a site plan/plan of 
operation for Kevin Cole, for the property located on CTH Z, also described as Lot 1 of CSM 6703 
located in part of Gov Lot 2 and Gov Lot 7, Section 2, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams 
County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-000047-0085 
Motion by Baker/Wiessinger to recommend to the Town Board approval of a site plan/plan of 
operation for Kevin Cole, for the property located on CTH Z, and to adopt the findings of fact noting 
the amendment to campground.  The following conditions were placed on approval: 

a. Securing of Town of Rome campground license 
b. Sign permit requirement 
c. Provide adequate collection and containment of refuse so as not to cause a nuisance 

Motion carried. 
  

15. Discussion and possible referral to Town Board – Approval of Joint Community Development 
Authority and Plan Commission Sub-Committee updates of the Comprehensive Plan objectives to 
be forwarded to the North Central Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission (NCWRPC) for a plan 
update 
Town Administrator Gebert stated that Dennis Lawrence of North Central Wisconsin Regional 
Planning Commission requested that in our formal minutes we document that the Plan Commission 
has reviewed the updates to our goals/objectives and agrees with the changes.  NCWRPC would 
then make the amendment.  It would  still have to come back in the approval process of a 
Comprehensive Plan.  Zoning Administrator Zeddies indicated the Future Land Use Map will be 
updated soon to reflect all of the changes that have been made.  Attorney Flanagan noted that 
Comprehensive Plans need a 30-day legal notice, so this may need to be referred to a future 
agenda for a public hearing.  
Motion by Baker/Gohmann that the minutes of this meeting reflect the approval of the Joint 
Community Development Authority and Plan Commission Sub-Committee updates to our goals, 
objectives and policies, to be referred to the North Central Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
to provide the finished document, and refer to future agenda for public hearing.  After the public 
hearing It would then be an agenda item for approval by the Town Board.  
Comments and suggestions from commissioners: 
Chapter 2: 
Objective 2, Policy 1, change Visit Rome to Visit Rome WI 
Chapter 3: 
Objective 2, Policy 5, spelling error, change the word “too” to “to” 
Discussion on Chapter 3, Objective 3, Policy 3, regarding density issues as it pertains to duplexes and 
other multi-family units. 
Chapter 4: 
Objective 4, Policy 1, last sentence remove “on weekends”. 
Objective 4, re-number second Policy 1 to Policy 2, and second Policy 2 to Policy 3. 
Chapter 5: 
Discussion on Objective 1, Policy 3 regarding the need to coordinate with grants committee.   

iMac27
Highlight



Page 5 of 5 
 

Chapter 7: 
Discussion on Objective 2, Policy 6:  Identify lands for future acquisition for the county forest 
program. 
Chapter 8: 
Objective 2, Policy 1, remove “fire and ambulance services”. 
 

DATES AND ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDA/MEETINGS 

16. Next agenda items: 
a. Site Plan/Plan of Operation Amendment 
b. Proposed amendments to Chapter 360, (Zoning) Article VIII regarding R-2 One- and Two-

Family and Manufactured Dwelling Residence District regarding camping units 
c. Proposed amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), Article IX regarding R-3 Multifamily 

Residence District regarding Condominiums 
d. Discussion only - Review of Public Property Memorial Placement Policy 

 
17. Next meeting date and time: March 14, 2023 at 4:00 PM 

ADJOURMENT 

Motion by Chairman Baker to adjourn at 5:26 p.m.  Motion carried. 
 
“Speak Your Peace” Commitment – A reminder that the Town Board Members have adopted the Nine Tools of Civility 
which commits the Board Members and Public to be mindful of how we treat each other at meetings. 
 

Notification of this meeting has been posted in accordance with the Open Meeting Laws of the State of Wisconsin. 
 

The Plan Commission may take action on any item on the agenda. It is possible that the members of and possibly a 
quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may be in attendance at the above-stated 
meeting to gather information; no action will be taken by any governmental body at the above-stated meeting other 
than the Plan Commission. 
 



 

 

       
      
 

    
 

TOWN OF ROME BOARD MEETING MINUTES 
 

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 16, 2023 5:00 P.M. 
 
1. Call to Order 
 

Chairman Carl Hasdal called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 
 

2. Roll Call 
 

Present: Chairman Carl Hasdal; Supervisors Bob Baurhyte, Dan Gohmann, Lori Djumadi and Daniel 
Minter; Administrator Jami Gebert; Clerk/Treasurer Amy Reuteman 

 
3. Certify Posting of Meeting 
 

Amy Reuteman certified that on, Monday, February 13, 2023, the Agenda for the Town of Rome Board 
meeting for Thursday, February 16, 2023 was posted at: 
 

Emailed to the Wisconsin Rapids Tribune  3:16 p.m. 
Posted at the Rome Town Hall         3:20 p.m. 
Posted at Kwik Trip, LLC          3:59 p.m. 
Posted at Nekoosa Port Edwards State Bank        4:03 p.m. 

 
4. Approve the Agenda 
 

Motion by Gohmann/Baurhyte to approve the agenda. Motion carried. 
 
5. Pledge of Allegiance  
 
6. Citizen Comments – During the Citizen Comment period of the agenda the Town Board welcomes 

comments from any town resident, not a member of the Town Board, on any item not on the agenda. 
Please know that pursuant to State law the Board cannot engage in conversation with you but may ask 
questions. The Board may refer the item to staff, a standing committee or a future board agenda for 
discussion and action. Each person wishing to speak will have up to 3 minutes to speak. Speakers are 
asked to submit a card to the Clerk/Treasurer providing their name, address and topic for discussion 
 
The board will also take comment from the public on agenda items as called by the Chair, but not during 
Citizen Comment. Please note that once the board begins discussion on an agenda item no further 
comment will be allowed from the public on that issue 

 
No comments. 

 
NO ACTION CONTEMPLATED EXCEPT POSSIBLE REFERRAL TO FUTURE AGENDA: 
 
7. Information Updates, Meeting Recaps, Recent Correspondence, Current Events, Announcements 
 

Supervisor Dan Minter stated that the public should check the Town and Library websites for open 
library positions. Supervisor Dan Gohmann mentioned that there will be a fisheree this weekend at Lake 

Town of Rome 
Nekoosa, WI 54457 
www.romewi.com 

http://www.romewi.com/


 

 

Camelot and stated that they are telling people not to drive any motorized vehicles on the lake. 
Supervisor Bob Baurhyte stated that he attended the Mid-State Technical College Culinary Program 
graduation. Visit Rome contributed $40,000.00 for students to attend this program. Supervisor Baurhyte 
also stated that in 2023 Visit Rome will allocate $100,000.00 to workforce development. Administrator 
Jami Gebert stated that the $40,000.00 from Visit Rome was from a Workforce Development grant that 
they received. She also stated that the Adams County Manager/Administrative Coordinator, Cindy 
Haggard, was at the White House today. Camping permits are now available to purchase either online 
or in person and can be purchased with a credit card. There are seats available for the Heart of 
Wisconsin Chamber of Commerce’s 75th Annual Meeting and Awards Banquet if Board Members are 
interested. 
 

8. Department and Committee Reports  

   Administration  Rome Police Department  
   EMS District/Lifestar  Rome Public Works Department 
   Lester Public Library of Rome  Rome Water Utility 
   Police and Fire Commission  Visit Rome, WI 
   Rome Fire Department  Zoning Department 
      
DISCUSS AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING ITEMS: 
 
9. Discussion and action – Approval of the February 2, 2023 meeting minutes 
 

Motion by Djumadi/Baurhyte to approve the February 2, 2023 meeting minutes. Motion carried. 
 

10. Discussion and action – Checks, Vouchers, Receipts and Journal Entries - approve checks #44927 – 
45013 totaling $6,079,606.39; Auto-payments totaling $102,986.71; State / Social Security / Medicare / 
Withholdings totaling $36,301.65; Payroll Vouchers V19958 – V20060 totaling $93,497.46 and checks 
21653 totaling $1,029.95; Receipts #24226 – 24297 totaling $6,785,777.76  

 
Motion by Gohmann/Baurhyte to approve as presented. Motion carried. 

 
11. Discussion and possible action – Approval of Ordinance No. 23-02; Recommendation from the Plan 

Commission on proposed amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), Articles VI, VII, IX, X, XI, XII, XIII, 
XIV, and XV, requirements regarding Roof Pitch in the R-1, R-1C, R-3, R-4, R-5, LD, LA, A-1 and A-2 
Zoning Districts 

 
Attorney Nicholas Flanagan explained that the current roof pitch requirements in most districts is 4/12 
and recently the Town has been asked for a different pitch. Plan Commission held a public hearing and 
the Commission then recommended approval of these amendments. 
 
Motion by Gohmann/Djumadi to approve Ordinance No. 23-02; Recommendation from the Plan 
Commission on proposed amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), Articles VI, VII, IX, X, XI, XII, XIII, 
XIV, and XV, requirements regarding Roof Pitch in the R-1, R-1C, R-3, R-4, R-5, LD, LA, A-1 and A-2 
Zoning Districts. Motion carried. 

 
12. Discussion and possible action – Approval of Ordinance No. 23-03; Recommendation from the Plan 

Commission on proposed amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), Articles II, III, VI, VII, VIII, IX, and 
XII, definitions, general regulations and residential zoning district requirements regarding Accessary 
Structures 

 

iMac27
Highlight



 

 

Attorney Flanagan gave background and clarity on this item. The Joint subcommittee has reviewed this 
ordinance and has recommended the changes to the Plan Commission which is now referred to the 
Town Board for approval after considering it at two meetings. 
 
Motion by Djumadi/Gohmann to approve Ordinance No. 23-03; Recommendation from the Plan 
Commission on proposed amendments to Chapter 360 (Zoning), Articles II, III, VI, VII, VIII, IX, and 
XII, definitions, general regulations and residential zoning district requirements regarding Accessary 
Structures. 
 
Chairman Hasdal stated that he would like to require that all submittals be to scale. Supervisors 
Baurhyte and Djumadi did not think that would be necessary. Discussion regarding to scale drawings 
will be brought to Plan Commission. 
 
Motion carried with Hasdal opposed. 

 
13. Discussion and possible action – Recommendation from the Plan Commission regarding consideration 

of a site plan/plan of operation for Kevin Cole, for the property located on CTH Z, also described as Lot 
1 of CSM 6703 located in part of Gov Lot 2 and Gov Lot 7, Section 2, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of 
Rome, Adams County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-000047-0085 
 
Attorney Flanagan explained that there are four seasonal rental sites with corresponding boat slips. A 
public hearing was held at the Plan Commission meeting at which they recommended approval with the 
following conditions: 

1. Obtain a Town of Rome Campground license, which requires a State License be issued prior to 
the Town issuing of a license. 

2. Obtain a sign permit from the Town of Rome. 
3. There must be a location to provide adequate refuse collection and containment. 

 
Motion by Gohmann/Baurhyte to approve the recommendation from the Plan Commission regarding 
consideration of a site plan/plan of operation for Kevin Cole, for the property located on CTH Z, also 
described as Lot 1 of CSM 6703 located in part of Gov Lot 2 and Gov Lot 7, Section 2, Town 20N, 
Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams County, WI, with a parcel number of 030-000047-0085. Motion 
carried. 

 
14. Discussion and possible action – Approval of Mobile Device Forensic Services Agreement with Wood 

County Sheriff’s Department 
 

Motion by Gohmann/Djumadi to approve of Mobile Device Forensic Services agreement with the Wood 
County Sheriff’s Department. Motion carried. 

 
15. Discussion and possible action – Approval of the Public Works 2023-2027 Road Improvement Plan for 

the 2023 Local Roads Improvement Program (LRIP) application  
 

Motion by Baurhyte/Gohmann to approve the Public Works 2023 – 2027 Road Improvement plan for the 
2023 Local Roads Improvement Program (LRIP) application. Motion carried. 

 
16. Discussion and possible action – Review of timeline and estimate to complete Timberline Parkway 

extension in Rome Town Center 
 

Administrator Gebert explained that the road expansion estimate is $303,000 and the Water Utility 
estimate is $90,400. The Town has already spent $10,300 with General Engineering. This has all been 
approved in the 2023 Budget. 

iMac27
Highlight



 

 

17. Discussion and possible action – Approval to request consideration from the Town of Saratoga for 
transfer of a Reserve “Class B” Liquor License  

 
Administrator Gebert explained the process and history of this item. Motion by Gohmann/Djumadi to 
approve requesting consideration from the Town of Saratoga for the transfer of a Reserve “Class B” 
Liquor License. Motion carried. 

 
18. Discussion and possible action – Approval of Ordinance No. 23-04; amending Ch. 287, (Property 

Maintenance), Article II Lawn Fertilizer Application, Sec. 287-5, Purpose and Intent   
 

This Ordinance change is a request from Tri-Lakes. Motion by Baurhyte/Gohmann to approve 
Ordinance 23-04; amending Ch. 287, (Property Maintenance), Article II Lawn Fertilizer Application, 
Sec. 287-5, purpose and intent. Motion carried. 

 
19. Discussion only – Review of timeline to completion and budget for the Rome Town Center 

Bandshell/Pavilion  
 

Administrator Gebert outlined the memo in the packet including revenues, expenses and awarded 
agreements including payments to date. A calendar to finalize construction on the bandshell was also in 
the packet. 

 
20. Discussion and possible action – Continue conversation on safety concerns, property damage, lakebed 

soil disruption and shoreline erosion caused by wake manipulation devices on Lake Camelot, Sherwood, 
and Arrowhead specific to: 

 
a. Review draft postcard for input survey  

 
Administrator Gebert included a draft of the postcard that she created which includes a link to the 
website for participants to get more information. The postcard will also have the link to the survey on it. 
Chairman Hasdal will look at the Minnesota and Presque Isle studies. 

 
DATES AND ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDA/MEETINGS 
 
21. Next agenda items 
 

Nekoosa School District presentation 
Contagious and infectious disease policy 

 
22. Next meeting date and time 
 

March 2, 2023 – 5:00 p.m. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

Motion by Gohmann/Hasdal to adjourn at 6:07 p.m. Motion carried. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Amy Reuteman 
Clerk/Treasurer 





 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
1) A full and complete application was filed by John and Christie Hotz, and received March 11, 2024 (herein referred to 

as “Application”) seeking a Conditional Use Permit for 967 Mansfield Ct., also described as Lot 2 of Chatham 
Addition to Lake Camelot, located in the SE1/4, SW1/4, Section 15, Town 20N, Range 06E, Town of Rome, Adams 
County, WI with a parcel number of 030-05137-0000. 

2) The Conditional Use request is to allow short-term rental (7 consecutive days to 29 consecutive days in duration) at 
the property. 

3) The property is zoned LD (Lake District), as defined in Chapter 360 of the Town of Rome’s Ordinance. 
4) Town of Rome Ordinance 360-61 requires a Conditional Use Permit for short-term rental of single-family dwellings, 

so that conditions may be imposed as are necessary to protect the residential character of the applicable neighborhood. 
5) The Town of Rome Planning Commission duly set this matter upon the agenda of a public meeting and considered the 

above-described application with the public hearing a matter of record of the Planning Commission meeting of April 
9, 2024. 

6) At the public hearing on the Application held by the Town of Rome Plan Commission on April 9, 2024, evidence and 
testimony was presented by the Applicant, and all interested persons were allowed an opportunity to speak, a full and 
complete record of which will be detailed in the minutes of the Plan Commission. 

7) At the conclusion of the public hearing, after consideration and discussion of the application, public comments, and 
the report received by staff, the Planning Commission, upon a motion duly seconded, approved the request for the 
Conditional Use Permit, and the following findings were found by the Plan Commission: 

a. The conditional use conforms with the standards of the applicable district in which it is located. 
b. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the proposed use will not be detrimental to or endanger the 

public health, safety or general welfare of the occupants of surrounding lands. 
c. The Applicant has met all of the conditions of application/issuance for a Short-Term Rental License. 

8) The following additional conditions were placed on the approval: 
a. Maximum occupancy shall be 5 
b. Maximum number of vehicles shall be 2, to be parked on hard surfaces, not on lawn/grass. 
c. Property manager within 25 miles of the residence on file with the Town. 

 
The Town of Rome Planning Commission hereby recommends approval of the Conditional Use Permit request submitted 
by John and Christie Hotz, for short-term rentals of 7 consecutive days or longer at parcel # 030-05137-0000. 
The following additional conditions were placed on the approval: 

1. _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
The term of the conditional use shall be indefinite, as long as the current property owner holds a Town of Rome Short-
Term Rental License. 
 
Planning Commission Chair: _________________________________   Date: ______________________ 
 
Planning Commission Secretary: ______________________________   Date: ______________________ 
 
By signing, Applicant agrees to comply with all conditions placed on approval. Applicant further understands that failure 
to comply with the stated conditions may result in the termination of the Conditional Use Permit. 
 
Signature of Owner/Applicant: _____________________________         Date: ______________________ 
 
Signature of Owner/Applicant: _____________________________         Date: ______________________ 
 

Note: if Owner is other than Applicant and is unable to sign, please attach written authorization from Owner allowing 
Applicant to sign on their behalf. 









OFFICE USE ONLY: 

Date Filed: _______________   
Amount Paid:  ___________     Check No.: ________ 

PRELIMINARY PLAT REVIEW APPLICATION
Application Plat Review Fee: 1-10 Lots = $500; 31-50 Lots = $750; 51+ Lots = $1,000

One complete set of large (D Size) plans and one complete set of 11”x17” size plans are required for the 
initial staff preliminary plat review.  After staff review and approval, a request will be made for an 
additional 21- 11”x17” copies.  This completed application, plat review fee and drawing(s) that meet all 
ordinance requirements are required for the project to be added to the Planning Commission Agenda. 

Proposed Subdivision Name or Property Name: 
(Note: proposed name shall not duplicate the name of any plat previously recorded in Adams County) 

       If yes, what is the existing subdivision name? ________________________________

Location and legal description of the property (by Government Lot, Section, Township, Range and County): 

Total acreage of property (in acres): 

Applicant’s Name: Applicant’s Phone Number: 

Applicant’s Address (Street Address, City, State, Zip code): 

Owner’s Name: Owner’s Phone Number: 

Applicant is (check one):  Owner         Agent          Other      _____________________ 
(If applicant is not the owner, provide a letter of authorization from Owner) 

Subdivision Designer/Technician: Designer/Technician Phone Number: 

Designer/Technician Address (Street Address, City, State, Zip code): 

Surveyor  (Check if same as above     ): _________________________ Surveyor’s Phone Number: 

Surveyor’s Address (Street Address, City, State, Zip code): 

SEDGE VILLAGE SOUTH

Is the property to be subdivided within an existing subdivision? YES 

LOT 26, 27, AND 28, SEDGE VILLAGE, DOCUMENT NUMBER 572728, AND PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER AND THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 
OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER AND THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER, ALL IN SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, 
RANGE 5 EAST, TOWN OF ROME, ADAMS COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

29.16

BAKER THOMPSON

Owner’s Address (Street Address, City, State, Zip code): 

DAVE GULLICKSON 

600 W. VIRGINIA STREET., SUITE 601, MILWAUKEE, WI, 53204

608-821-3966

JOE DOYLE
262-408-5505

600 W. VIRGINIA STREET., SUITE 601, MILWAUKEE, WI, 53204

SEDGE VILLAGE LLC

X

SEDGE VILLAGE

573 OAK TREE LANE, NORTHFIELD, IL, 60093



The present Owner acquired legal title to the subject property on (Date):   ____________________ 

Grantor was: _____________________________________________________________________ 

Grantee is: _______________________________________________________________________ 

Land records reference is (Recorded Document No.): ______________________________________ 

Size of tract in acres or of existing lots, if any, in square feet: ___________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
Lot/Outlot Information: 

Number of lots proposed in the subdivision: ____________ 

Number of outlots proposed in the subdivision: __________ 

Area of lotts proposed (minimum, average and maximum): ___________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Provide an overview of any existing legal rights-of-way or easements affecting the property (If none, write 
NONE):_________________________________________________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

List existing covenants on the property (If none, write NONE):____________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Proposed Sanitary Facilities: 

Water (check all that apply):    ____ Private Well       _____Municipal Water        ______Private Distribution System.   

____ Other: ______________________ 

Sewage Disposal: (check all that apply):  ____ Municipal Sewer    _____Septic Field (Conventional)        ______Holding Tank.   

____ Shallow Mound    _____Mound System       ______In Ground Low Pressure System.     ____ Other: ______________________ 

Any other proposals, such as parcels of land intended to be dedicated, conveyed or reserved for public 
use, and the conditions proposed for such disposal and use: ______________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

CERTIFICATE

I, the undersigned Applicant, hereby submit this information as required for a Town of Rome Preliminary Plat 
Review and certify that all the information and attachments herein are complete, true and correct to the best of 
my knowledge.  I further agree to submit additional information as may be required by the Town of Rome.   

___________________________________________          _______________________________   
Signature (Applicant)    Date               

11
3

MIN:1.04 ACRES, MAX:7.59 ACRES, AVG:1.83 ACRES

X

X

5/17/2022

WISCONSIN DUNES LLC

SEDGE VILLAGE LLC

571711

38.03 ACRES

NONE

NONE



 
 

 

999 Fourier Drive, Suite 201 
Madison, Wisconsin 53717 
(608) 826-0532 phone 
(608) 826-0530 FAX 
www.vierbicher.com 
 

vision to reality 
 
Reedsbur g (608)524 -6468  | Madi son  (608)826 -0532  |  Mi lwaukee Metro  (262)875 -5000  |  P ra i r ie  du  Chien  (6 08)326 -1051  
 

March 12, 2024 
Rev April 1, 2024 
 
Attn: Taylor Owczynsky, Zoning Department 
Town of Rome 
1156 Alpine Drive 
Nekoosa, WI 54457 
 
Dear Ms. Owczynsky: 
 
Attached please find the submittal documents for the Preliminary Plat and Final Plat of “SEDGE VILLAGE 
SOUTH”. All items required and listed in the Plat check list have been included in this submittal. 
 
SEDGE VILLAGE SOUTH will consist of 11 developable single family lots and 3 outlots. SEDGE VILLAGE 
SOUTH is not proposing any public improvements as a part of construction of this development. 
Additional information regarding use and type of residential buildings can be found within the 
Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements for Sedge Village which has been 
included as a part of this submittal. The Zoning for this development is PUD Zoning. 
 
Concurrent with this submittal to the Town, these documents have also been submitted to the Adams 
County Planning and Zoning Department for their review and approval. Should you require any 
additional information to complete your review of this project please feel free to contact me. 
 
Owner:       
Sedge Village, LLC     
attn: Michael L. Keiser     
875 N. Michigan Ave., Suite 3920   
Chicago, IL 60611     
 
Land Surveyor:      
Vierbicher Associates, Inc.    
attn: David N. Gullickson, PLS    
999 Fourier Drive, Suite 201    
Madison, WI 53717     
 
Civil Engineer:  
Vierbicher Associates, Inc. 
attn: John Kastner, PE 
999 Fourier Drive, Suite 201 
Madison, WI 53717 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
John Kastner, PE 







 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 

1) A full and complete application was filed by Sedge Village, LLC, and received March 25, 2024 (the 
“Application”) seeking a Preliminary Plat Review for a proposed subdivision development area 
consisting of 29.16 acres, more specifically described as: 

a) 29.16 acres comprising all of Lot 26, 27, and 28, Sedge Village, Document No. 572728, and 
Part of the NW ¼ and the NE ¼ of the SW ¼ and the NW ¼ of the SE ¼, all in Section 26, 
Town 20N, Range 5E. 

2) The reserved subdivision name is Sedge Village South Subdivision. 
3) The subject property is zoned PUD (Planned Unit Development), as defined in Chapter 360 of the Town 

of Rome’s Code of Ordinances, and the proposed development is a mixed use of ten residential lots  
situated around a pond.  

4) Town of Rome Code Section 326-14 requires preliminary plat conform to the requirements of Town of 
Rome Code Chapter 326, as well as Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes, so that proposed subdivision 
developments may be reviewed for proposed dwelling units, types of businesses or industry, and effects 
of the development on traffic, fire hazards, and congestion of population. 

5) The Town of Rome Planning Commission duly set this matter upon the agenda of a public meeting and 
considered the above-described application with the public hearing a matter of record of the Planning 
Commission meeting of April 9, 2024. 

6) At the public hearing on the Application held by the Town of Rome Plan Commission on April 9, 2024, 
evidence and testimony was presented by the Applicant, and all interested persons were allowed an 
opportunity to speak, a full and complete record of which will be detailed in the minutes of the Plan 
Commission. 

7) At the conclusion of the public hearing, after consideration and discussion of the application, public 
comments, and the report received by staff, the Planning Commission, upon a motion duly seconded, 
recommended to the Town Board the approval of the Preliminary Plat for Sedge Village South 
Subdivision, and the following findings were found by the Plan Commission: 

a. The proposed subdivision conforms to the standards of the applicable district in which it is 
located, and all standards as described in the approved PUD Project Plan. 

b. The development will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety or general 
welfare of the occupants of surrounding lands or the general public services resources. 

c. The Applicant has met or is in the process of complying with all of the preliminary plat standards 
under Town Code Section 326-14(B)(2), as well as Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin Statutes, which 
shall be a requirement prior to approval of the final plat. 

 
Based on the above Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Town of Rome Planning Commission hereby 
recommends to the Town Board of Supervisors the approval of the Preliminary Plat for Sedge Village South 
Subdivision submitted by Sedge Village, LLC. Subject to the following recommended conditions of approval: 

a. ___________________________________ 
b. ___________________________________ 
c. ___________________________________ 
d. ___________________________________ 
e. ___________________________________ 

 
Planning Commission Chair: _________________________________   Date: ______________________ 
 
Planning Commission Secretary: ______________________________   Date: ______________________ 
 











 
 

DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, 
RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS FOR 

SEDGE VILLAGE SOUTH 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

THIS DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, 
CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND EASEMENTS FOR 
SEDGE VILLAGE SOUTH (this “Declaration”) is made by Sedge 
Village, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company (“Developer”), 
as of the ____ day of ___________, 2024 (“Effective Date”). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recording Area 
Name and Return Address: 
 
Sedge Village, LLC 
Attn: Michael Keiser 
875 N. Michigan Ave. Suite 3920 
Chicago, IL 60611 
 
Parcel Identification Number: 
 
See attached Exhibit A 
 

RECITALS 

A. Developer is creating a residential development to be known as Sedge Village South, 
consisting of eleven (11) residential lots and one (1) outlot (collectively referred to herein as, the 
“Development” or “Subdivision”), on certain property located in the Town of Rome, Adams County, 
State of Wisconsin, as more particularly described on the attached Exhibit A, and depicted on the attached 
Exhibit B. 

B. To further the purposes of the Development and to effectuate a desirable utilization of 
land in an aesthetically pleasing residential environment, Developer desires to subject the lots and outlot 
(collectively, the “Property”), and any and all buildings and other improvements now or hereafter erected 
upon the Property, to the conditions, restrictions, covenants, reservations and easements contained in this 
Declaration, for the benefit of the Developer and each future owner of any lot within the Subdivision. 

C. Developer intends to develop the Property in a manner that is coordinated with the 
adjacent Sand Valley golf resort (“Sand Valley”), provided, however, no person obtains any special 
privileges or access to Sand Valley solely by virtue of their ownership of a lot within the Subdivision. 

DECLARATION 

NOW, THEREFORE, Developer declares that the Property shall be held, sold, conveyed, 
transferred, used and improved subject to the conditions, restrictions, covenants, reservations and 
easements contained in this Declaration, which shall inure to the benefit of Developer, its successors and 
assigns, and to all parties hereafter having any interest in the Property.  This Declaration is made subject 
to all easements, covenants, conditions and restrictions of record. 



 

2 

1. DEFINITIONS.  The following terms shall have the assigned definitions: 

a. “Applicable Law” shall mean any and all laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules or 
regulations of all federal, state and local governments. 

b. “Architectural Control Committee” or “ACC” shall mean the committee charged with 
administration of the architectural control requirements of this Declaration, and during such time as 
Developer owns one or more Lots or Outlots within the Subdivision, Developer shall be entitled to 
appoint the ACC, regardless of whether Developer stills controls the Board. 

c. “Association” shall mean Sedge Village South HOA, Inc., the members of which shall be 
all Owners of Lots within the Subdivision. 

d. “Association Insurance” shall mean all policies of insurance obtained and maintained by 
the Association under this Declaration or the Bylaws. 

e. “Board” or “Board of Directors” shall be the governing body of the Association. 

f. A “Building” shall be any freestanding structure located on any Lot in the Subdivision. 

g. “Bylaws” shall mean the Bylaws of the Association as adopted by the Board. 

h. “Common Improvements and Services” shall mean and consist of all improvements made 
and services furnished, from time to time, by the Developer or the Association for the benefit of the 
Development, including, without limitation, the private access drive constructed on Outlot 1, any portion 
of the Subdivision accepting stormwater from the private access drive on Outlot 1, entrance landscaping, 
landscaping maintenance, storm lighting, development identification signage, common area utilities, 
private access road maintenance, snow and ice removal, gated access, security systems, security 
monitoring, trash collection, and insurance coverage. 

i. “County” shall mean Adams County. 

j. “Developer” shall mean Sedge Village, LLC, and the successors and assigns of 
Developer, pursuant to assignment provisions of this Declaration. 

k. “Declaration” shall mean this Declaration as the same may be amended from time to 
time. 

l. “Director” shall mean a member of the Board. 

m. “Drawings” is defined in Section 6. a. 

n. “Lot” shall mean a platted lot within the Subdivision intended for residential 
development, as shown on the Plat.  The reference to a Lot by a number shall mean that particular 
numbered Lot as shown on the Plat. 

o. “Mortgage” shall mean a recorded first lien mortgage against a Lot, or the vendor’s 
interest under a recorded first lien land contract relating to a Lot. 

p. “Mortgagee” shall mean the holder of a Mortgage. 

q. “Occupant” shall mean the Owner and any other person residing on or occupying a Lot. 



 

3 

r. “Outlot” shall mean a platted oulot within the Subdivision upon which Developer intends 
to construct Common Improvements or is reserved for the common enjoyment of the Lot Owners.  The 
reference to an Outlot by a number shall mean that particular numbered Outlot as shown on the Plat.  
Outlot 1 is to be operated as a private access drive for the benefit of the Lot Owners in accordance with 
this Declaration. 

s. “Owner” or “Lot Owner” shall mean each fee simple owner of a Lot, but if any Lot is the 
subject of a recorded land contract, then the Owner is the vendee under such land contract.  References to 
“Owner” or “Lot Owner” shall include all owners of a Lot, notwithstanding the use of the singular form 
in this Declaration.  Developer is an Owner with respect to Lots during such time as Developer holds title. 
Developer is also an “Owner” with respect to the Open Space. 

t. “Plat” shall mean the Plat of Sedge Village South, recorded in the Register of Deeds’ 
Office, including any additions to the Plat of Sedge Village subsequently recorded. 

t. “Property” shall mean the real estate subject to this Declaration, as described on 
Exhibit A and depicted on Exhibit B. 

u. “Register of Deeds’ Office” shall mean the office of the Register of Deeds for Adams 
County, Wisconsin. 

v. “Rules and Regulations” shall mean any rules and regulations that may be adopted and 
amended from time to time by the Board of Directors pursuant to this Declaration. 

w. “Town” shall mean the Town of Rome. 

2. BINDING EFFECT.  This Declaration, which regulates the use, improvement and 
occupancy of the Property, shall become effective immediately upon its recording. 

3. GENERAL PURPOSE.   

a. The general purpose of this Declaration is to: (i) ensure that the Development will 
become and remain an attractive, high quality residential community intended to preserve and maintain its 
natural beauty; (ii) ensure the best use and the most appropriate development and improvement of 
building sites on each Lot; (iii) protect Lot Owners against use and development of other Lots as may 
detract from the value of their Lots; (iv) prevent the erection of poorly designed or proportioned structures 
in any part of the Development; (v) promote harmonious use of materials and color schemes in 
improvements; (vi) encourage attractive homes with appropriate siting on Lots; (vii) promote proper 
spatial relationships of structures to other structures and Lot lines; and (viii) generally ensure a quality 
residential development of the Development. 

b. Each Lot is limited to residential purposes only. Subject to compliance with Applicable 
Laws and all covenants, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Declaration, each Owner shall be 
permitted to erect the following Buildings on a residential Lot: (i) a principal residence; (ii) an accessory 
structure; and (iii) any additional structures that may be approved by the ACC in its sole discretion. 

4. ASSOCIATION.   

a. The Association shall be incorporated by the Developer as a non-stock corporation under 
chapter 181 of the Wisconsin statutes, and shall adopt Bylaws for its governance and administration.  



 

4 

Each Lot shall be vested with one vote at meetings of the Association members. Each Lot Owner subject 
to this Declaration shall be a member of the Association and membership shall pass with title to a Lot. 

b. The Association shall be governed by a Board of Directors consisting of three (3) 
directors, who shall act by majority vote. Developer shall be entitled to appoint all Directors until the 
earlier of: (i) the date on which Developer no longer owns any Lot or Outlot; or (ii) Developer’s election 
to waive its right to control. 

c. The Board shall annually adopt a budget of common expenses and levy assessments on 
the Lots for the operation of the Association, including the cost of maintaining Common Improvements 
and Services.  Each Lot subject to this Declaration shall be subject to assessment by the Association for 
Association’s existing or anticipated expenses, as more particularly described in this Declaration or in the 
Bylaws.  Assessments shall constitute a lien on the Lot and are also the personal obligation of its Lot 
Owner, until paid. If the County of the Town becomes the owner of any Lot through the tax delinquency 
process, the foregoing provision shall not be deemed to supersede any law limiting or eliminating the 
liability of the County or the Town with respect to fees or assessments imposed under this Declaration. 

d. General assessments shall be levied on an annual basis and shall be due and payable in 
such periodic installments as determined by the Board.  The Board may levy a special assessment for any 
purpose for which a general assessment may be levied, which special assessment shall be due and payable 
at such time and in such manner as the Board designates.  Any assessment or installment of assessment 
not paid within thirty (30) days of its due date may be subject to a late charge and/or interest as set forth 
in the Bylaws or as established by rule adopted by the Board. 

e. If any Owner fails to timely pay any assessment installment, the Association may take all 
appropriate measures as permitted by law to enforce payment.  The defaulting Owner shall be responsible 
for all costs incurred by the Association in seeking to enforce payment, including the Association’s 
reasonable attorneys’ fees.  The Association shall have the right to file a lien against the Lot for any 
unpaid Association payments, which lien shall be effective as of the recording of notice thereof in the 
Register of Deeds’ Office.  Liens for unpaid assessments shall also extend to and secure payment of any 
fines, interest and reasonable costs of collection, including the Association’s attorneys’ fees. 

f. During such time as Developer owns any Lot in the Subdivision, Developer may, but 
shall not be obligated to, directly pay bills or provide services that would otherwise represent Association 
obligations to which regular assessments would be applied.  Developer may offset expenses incurred by 
Developer in performing or paying such Association obligations against assessments due for Developer-
owned Lots.  If the aggregate of Developer payments exceeds the aggregate of assessments then due on 
Developer-owned Lots, Developer shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Association. 

g. Common expenses shall be allocated among all Lot Owners in shares proportionate to 
their votes in the Association.  Common surpluses for each fiscal year shall be retained for common 
expenses for the next succeeding fiscal year. 

h. The Association may employ a professional management agent or company to assist in 
carrying out its duties under this Declaration, with such experience and qualifications and on such terms 
and conditions as are acceptable to the Association. 

i. Rules and Regulations, not in conflict with the provisions of this Declaration, concerning 
the use and enjoyment of the Subdivision, may be promulgated and amended from time to time by the 
Board of Directors, in its reasonable discretion.  Copies of the then current Rules and Regulations and any 
amendments thereto shall be furnished to all Lot Owners by the Board promptly after the adoption of such 



 

5 

Rules and Regulations or any amendments thereto.  In no event shall such Rules and Regulations 
materially and adversely affect any Lot Owner’s rights under this Declaration. 

j. A copy of this Declaration and the Association’s books, records and financial statements 
to be kept by the Association shall be available for inspection by any Owner or any representative of an 
Owner duly authorized in writing. 

5. ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL COMMITTEE.  The Architectural Control Committee 
(or ACC) for the Subdivision shall be appointed by Developer and, at Developer’s election, the ACC may 
consist of the same individuals who serve as the Board.  During such time as Developer owns one or 
more Lots or Outlots in the Subdivision, and regardless of whether Developer has previously transferred 
control of the Board to the Lot Owners, Developer may, nonetheless, continue to appoint the ACC.  The 
decision of the majority of the ACC members shall be final and binding.  During such time as Developer 
appoints the ACC, Developer, at its sole discretion, may elect to have only one or two members of the 
ACC, whose decisions shall be nonetheless binding, valid and enforceable.  ACC members shall not be 
entitled to compensation for services performed pursuant to this section.  Developer shall be entitled to 
remove and replace members of the ACC, at its sole discretion, as long as Developer owns any Lot or 
Outlot in the Subdivision.  After Developer no longer owns any Lot or Outlot in the Subdivision, the 
ACC shall consist of the Board of Directors of the Association. 

6. ARCHITECTURAL CONTROL.   

a. No Building, accessory structure, fence, wall, driveway, deck, patio, light post, well, 
private onsite wastewater system (POWTS), landscaping or other structure or improvement shall be 
constructed, erected, placed or altered on any Lot in the Subdivision without the approval of the ACC. 
Prior to erecting any building or structure, making any improvement or installing or altering any 
landscaping, the Lot Owner shall submit to the ACC three (3) sets of plans, including building 
construction plans, elevations, specifications, site plans, grading plans and landscaping plans, as 
appropriate (plans and specifications referenced above, “Drawings”). If and when Drawings are approved, 
one set of the approved Drawings shall be signed, dated, and returned by the ACC to the Lot Owner as 
evidence of ACC approval.  Any changes or revisions required by the ACC shall first be made to the 
Drawings by Owner before approval is given.  Once ACC approval is given, construction shall be 
performed in substantial conformity with the approved Drawings unless subsequent changes are 
submitted to and approved by the ACC. 

b. In reviewing Drawings, the ACC may consider the suitability of the proposed Building or 
other structure or improvement, its design, elevation, color, construction materials, surrounding 
Buildings, proposed location, the view from other Lots in the Subdivision, terrain, environmental impact, 
aesthetics, and such other consideration as the ACC deems appropriate. The ACC shall have the right to 
waive approve variances or deviations from the restrictions imposed by this Declaration based on Lot 
configuration, hardship and/or other factor or factors satisfactory to the ACC, in the ACC’s sole 
discretion. Any action by the ACC shall be final and conclusive as to all persons then or thereafter 
owning Lots in the Subdivision. The ACC shall not be liable for actions taken or decisions made in good 
faith. 

c. In addition to compliance with this Declaration, all construction shall comply with 
Applicable Law.  ACC approval of Drawings shall not be deemed an ACC certification that construction 
proposed in such Drawings complies with Applicable Law, and such compliance shall be the sole 
responsibility of the Owner and such Owner’s builder.  The ACC shall have no liability or responsibility 
if the ACC approves Drawings that fail to comply with Applicable Law and/or which fail to properly 
handle drainage. If approved Drawings violate Applicable Law, or fail to properly handle drainage, it 



 

6 

shall be the sole responsibility of the Lot Owner to discover and correct the matter, including appropriate 
corrections to the Drawings, which corrected Drawings shall be resubmitted to the ACC.  All construction 
on any Lot shall conform to the Development master grading and drainage plans on file with the 
Association and/or the Town. 

d. It is intended that architectural styles amongst Lots in close visual proximity to one 
another shall be compatible, while also featuring diversity to avoid monotony or duplication.  The ACC 
may consider a proposed residence in relation to existing or previously approved homes in close visual 
proximity to the proposed residence. The ACC, in its sole discretion, may grant conceptual approval for 
the use of a certain exterior design on any Lot in the Subdivision, and reserve the use of said design for 
said Lot, prior to receiving the actual plans as required pursuant to Section 5 above. Any such conceptual 
approval and/or reservation may be rescinded by the ACC at any time prior to final approval of the 
Drawings, upon not less than sixty (60) days’ written notice to the Lot Owner if the Lot Owner fails to 
submit the full set of Drawings as required pursuant to Section 6a above prior to the expiration of said 
notice period, and/or if the ACC rejects the Drawings so submitted. 

e. The exterior siding of all dwellings shall consist of natural wood siding, natural stone, 
brick or stucco. In addition to the foregoing, upon ACC approval, exterior siding may consist of other 
materials provided that the architectural integrity of the home is not adversely affected by the use of such 
other materials. The ACC, in its sole discretion, shall have the right to permit or prohibit the use of 
artificial stone, artificial brick, composite wood, and/or other types of siding as the ACC deems 
appropriate to preserve the architectural integrity and quality appearance of the Development. All pitched 
roofs shall consist of wood, tile or dimensional asphalt shingles. The ACC, in its sole discretion, may 
permit use of other roofing materials, provided such other material has substantially the same appearance 
as the preferred materials. 

f. All detached garages, storage structures and other outbuildings require ACC approval and 
may be permitted or denied at the sole discretion of the ACC. The ACC shall have the right to condition 
approval on the proposed outbuilding having the same materials, similar architectural design and/or color 
scheme as the residence.  All outbuildings shall be permanent.  No outbuilding is permitted in any 
easement area. 

g. The need for interpretation, from time to time, is inherent in the implementation and 
enforcement of protective covenants and restrictions.  Where such interpretation is required, the matter 
shall be resolved by the ACC, whose decision shall be final. 

7. LOCATION OF IMPROVEMENTS.  The placement and location of all Buildings and 
other improvements on a Lot, including the location of the well and POWTS serving each Lot, shall, in 
addition to compliance with Applicable Laws, be subject to the approval of the ACC.  Exhibit C attached 
to this Declaration and incorporated herein depicts the permitted building envelope for Lots 1 through 28, 
inclusive (the “Permitted Building Envelope”).  The Permitted Building Envelope for Lots 29 through 33, 
inclusive, shall be the entire Lot.  All improvements on a Lot must be located within the Permitted 
Building Envelope for such Lot.  Upon written request of a Lot Owner, the ACC may, in the exercise of 
its sole discretion, approve an amendment to the location of the Permitted Building Envelope, provided 
the amended location complies with all applicable setbacks and other legal requirements.  Any such 
amendments approved by the ACC shall be recorded with the Register of Deeds’ office, at the Lot 
Owner’s expense. 



 

7 

8. COMMENCEMENT OF AND COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION.   

a. Before any construction is commenced on a Lot, the driveway shall be rough graded, in a 
location and vertical alignment approved by the ACC. All construction access to the Lot during 
construction by material suppliers, contractors, subcontractors and other individuals shall be by the 
installed driveway only. 

b. All exterior construction shall be completed within one (1) year of construction 
commencement and the Building shall be ready for occupancy within that period.  Within the earlier 
of: (i) one year of occupancy; or (ii) two years of commencement of construction, Owner shall complete 
all landscaping in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by the ACC. 

c. During construction, the Lot Owner shall ensure that the Owner’s contractor maintains 
prompt cleanup of scraps, paper, debris or other waste materials.  A dumpster shall be maintained on the 
Lot throughout construction. The Lot Owner shall repair any and all damage to the right-of-way adjacent 
to the Lot, including, but not limited to, pavement, curbing, ditch, swale and/or culvert, and to any 
drainage ditches, swales and/or other drainage facilities on the Lot, occurring during construction.  If 
Owner fails to perform the responsibilities set forth above, Developer or Association shall have the right 
to perform the necessary cleanup and/or make the necessary repairs and obtain reimbursement from the 
Lot Owner for the expense incurred by Developer or Association.  Proper erosion control practices shall 
be installed prior to commencing any earth-moving activities to prevent sediment entering storm water 
drainage ways or leaving the Lot construction site. 

9. FAILURE TO COMPLY.  If a Lot Owner or Owner’s contractors fail to comply with the 
cleanup requirements and/or the use of the approved driveway, and/or repair of any damaged drainage 
facilities and/or public right-of-way, and if Developer, as a result of such noncompliance, undertakes any 
cleanup or repair, and/or is charged or assessed by Town for same, Developer shall be entitled to recover, 
upon demand, from the Lot Owner, all costs and expenses incurred by Developer relative to such cleanup 
and/or repair, together with all costs and expenses of collection, including but not limited to reasonable 
actual attorneys’ fees. If a Lot Owner or the Lot Owner’s contractors fail to comply with the architectural 
or other requirements of this Declaration, and if Developer or Association retains an attorney to enforce 
said requirements, Developer or Association shall be entitled to recover, upon demand, from the Lot 
Owner, all costs and expenses, including actual attorneys’ fees, incurred with respect to such 
enforcement. 

10. PRESERVATION OF EXISTING VEGETATION.  No existing vegetation on a Lot 
shall be cut down, destroyed, mutilated, moved or disfigured, without prior approval of the ACC.  Except 
as to trees authorized by the ACC to be removed, all existing trees shall be protected during construction 
and preserved by wells or islands and proper grading in such a manner as may be required by the ACC. 

11. DRIVEWAYS.  Each Lot Owner shall install a hard-surfaced concrete or asphalt 
driveway within one (1) year of the date of issuance of an occupancy permit for the residence on the 
Owner’s Lot.  Driveways may be constructed with alternate materials with the approval of the ACC.  The 
driveway shall extend from garage entry to point of intersection with the right-of-way.  If the driveway is 
concrete, the concrete shall be installed no closer than six (6) feet to the traveled portion of the roadway, 
with the area between the concrete drive and the traveled portion of the roadway paved with asphalt. 

12. HEIGHT OF GRADE.   

a. No Lot Owner shall alter the grade of any Lot except in compliance with the 
Development master grading plan approved by, and on file with, the Association and/or the Town.  Lot 



 

8 

grades may only be altered if the Lot Owner first obtains written approval of the ACC and Town, and 
then only to the extent authorized in such approval.  Any application for grade deviation approval shall 
include a grading plan with detailed specifications on the area proposed to be regraded, existing and 
proposed topography and a civil engineer’s analysis and opinion that there will be no adverse drainage 
impact for the subject Lot, any other Lot or on any public improvements. 

b. Each Lot Owner must strictly adhere to and finish-grade its Lot in accordance with the 
master grading plan.  Developer, Association and/or Town, and/or their agents, employees or contractors, 
shall have the right to enter upon any Lot, at any time, to inspect, maintain or correct any drainage 
condition.  If grades are found which are inconsistent with the master grading plan (as amended, if 
applicable), the Lot Owner shall be responsible for any and all costs to conform grades to those specified 
in the master grading plan. 

13. NUISANCES.  No noxious or offensive activities are permitted on any Lot or Outlot, or 
any activity or condition which constitutes a nuisance. 

14. STORAGE RESTRICTIONS.  No outside storage of boats, motorcycles, snowmobiles, 
all-terrain vehicles, motor homes, recreational vehicles, trailers, tractors or inoperative vehicles is 
permitted on any Lot.  No outside storage of any type of truck used as a commercial vehicle containing 
any type of signage shall be permitted on any Lot.  “Outside storage” shall mean location on a Lot, and 
not contained within a garage for three (3) or more consecutive days. 

15. UTILITY RESTRICTIONS.  Except for residential propane gas tanks servicing gas 
barbeque grills, no exterior fuel tanks, including, but not limited to, fuel oil tanks, propane gas tanks 
and/or motor vehicle fuel tanks, whether aboveground or belowground, are permitted on any Lot unless 
approved by the ACC.  All Lots shall be serviced by electric, cable television and telephone service via 
underground installation only. No residence or other Building or structure on any Lot shall be serviced by 
overhead service wires. All costs and expenses involved in installing underground utility service 
connections on any Lot between the utility companies’ secondary pedestals and Building on any Lot shall 
be paid by the Lot Owner. 

16. ANIMALS AND LIVESTOCK AND POULTRY.  No animals may be raised, bred or 
kept on any Lot other than dogs, cats, or other household pets, providing they are not raised, kept, bred or 
maintained for any commercial purpose. By way of enumeration, and not by way of limitation, the term 
“household pets” does not include livestock, snakes, rodents, poultry, goats or pigs of any kind. 

17. SIGNS.  Except for political signs of a reasonable size and in reasonable proximity to the 
election for which such political sign is posted, no sign of any kind shall be displayed to public view on 
any Lot except one sign not more than five square feet in size:  (i) advertising the property for sale or rent; 
or (ii) used by a builder to advertise a residence for sale, or as a model home, but only during the 
construction and sales period.  Developer may post such signs as Developer determines in conjunction 
with initial Lot sales in the Subdivision and Developer or Association may also erect and maintain one or 
more Development signs at entrances to the Development. 

18. MAINTENANCE.   

a. Each Lot Owner shall maintain any Building and other improvements located on such 
Owner’s Lot in accordance with the Building Plans approved by the ACC.  No modification or alteration 
of the exterior of such Building or to any improvements shall occur without prior approval of the ACC.  
Each Lot Owner shall maintain the natural and landscaped areas on the Owner’s Lot in accordance with 



 

9 

the plans approved by the ACC. No modification or alteration of such natural or landscaped areas shall 
occur without prior approval of the ACC. 

b. Each Owner shall regularly inspect the general condition of the Owner’s Lot and the 
exterior of any Buildings and other improvements located thereon and shall maintain the Lot and all 
improvements in a first-class condition. If any Owner fails to maintain any portion of the Owner’s Lot or 
the exterior condition of any Building or improvements in the required condition, the Association may 
deliver written notice to the Owner detailing the work necessary to restore the property to the condition 
required by this Declaration. The Owner shall, at the Owner’s sole cost and expense, promptly undertake 
or authorize the Association to undertake the necessary repairs or maintenance. If the Owner fails to take 
the action necessary to restore the property to the condition required by this Declaration within thirty (30) 
days of receipt of notice from the Association, the Association shall have the right, but not the obligation, 
to enter such Owner’s Lot for the purpose of performing the repairs or maintenance specified in the 
written notice.  The cost of any repairs or maintenance performed by the Association pursuant to this 
paragraph shall be levied as a special assessment against the Lot, with written notice to the Owner, which 
assessment shall be immediately due and payable. 

c. The Association shall maintain any Common Improvements and Services and may levy 
assessments against the Lot Owners for such maintenance/service in accordance with Section 4 above.  In 
addition, the Developer reserves to the Association an easement allowing the Association the right, but 
not the obligation, to perform maintenance over the portion of any Lot located outside of the Permitted 
Building Envelope. 

19. ANTENNAE.  No exterior antennas, other than dish type antennas not exceeding twenty-
four (24) inches in diameter, shall be permitted on any Lot.  Permitted dish antennas shall not be attached 
to the front of any house, nor located in the front yard of the residence. 

20. SWIMMING POOLS.  No swimming pools, whether above-ground or in-ground, may be 
erected on any Lot. 

21. FENCES.  It is the intention to preserve the open natural feeling of the Development 
environment.  No barrier or containment fences may be erected on or adjacent to any Lot line. Fencing of 
a decorative or landscaping nature may be installed subject to ACC approval. 

22. EASEMENTS.   

a. Utility and Storm Water Easements.  Developer may grant subterranean easements within 
a twenty-foot strip of land running along the front, side and rear line of each Lot, to utilities that service 
the Development or to facilitate Common Improvements maintained by the Association, including storm 
water facilities. Upon the sale of any Lot by Developer, Developer shall be deemed to have reserved the 
right to grant such easements.  Any public bodies and utilities accessing any such easement areas declared 
by Developer shall have the obligation to repair any damage resulting from such access.  No pedestals or 
buried cables are to be placed such that the installation would disturb any survey stake, or obstruct vision 
along any lot line.  No pole-mounted or overhead facilities are permitted within such easement areas. 

b. Surface Water Drainage.  There shall exist a perpetual, non-exclusive, reciprocal 
easement for surface water drainage on, over and across all Lots within the Subdivision in accordance 
with the master grading and drainage plans on file with the Association and/or the Town. 

c. Reserved Rights.  Developer, at its sole discretion, may grant easements over and across 
Outlot 1 for any purpose not inconsistent with this Declaration. 



 

10 

23. APPLICABLE LAW.  In addition to the requirements of this Declaration, all Lots and 
improvements thereon shall be subject to Applicable Law.  No Lot may be further subdivided nor may 
any Lots be combined without prior approval of the ACC, and subject to Applicable Law.  Each Owner is 
required to understand and ensure that the Owner’s Lot and all construction thereon is in full compliance 
with Applicable Law, including, without limitation, Town zoning ordinances and building codes.  In the 
event of any conflict between this Declaration and any law, statute, rule, code, regulation or ordinance of 
Town, County, State of Wisconsin or federal government, the more restrictive provision shall apply. 

24. INSURANCE. 

a. Association Insurance.  The Association shall obtain and maintain comprehensive general 
public liability insurance, casualty insurance coverage on any Common Improvements, and such other 
policies and/or coverages as the Association deems necessary or advisable. 

b. Coverage of Association Insurance.  The casualty insurance coverage shall be in an 
amount equal to the insurable replacement value. Comprehensive general liability coverage shall be in 
such amounts as the Association determines annually, but not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

c. Proceeds.  Association Insurance proceeds for casualty loss shall be for the benefit of the 
Association in order to finance reconstruction of damaged Common Improvements.  Liability coverage 
and other insurance proceeds shall be applied as the Association directs. 

d. Cost.  All premiums for Association Insurance and other insurance obtained by the 
Association shall be a common expense. 

e. Acts Affecting Insurance.  No Owner or Occupant shall commit or permit any violation 
of covenants or agreements contained in any of the Association Insurance, or do or permit anything to be 
done, or keep or permit anything to be kept, or permit any condition to exist, which might (a) result in 
termination of any such policies, (b) adversely affect the right of recovery thereunder, (c) result in 
reputable insurance companies refusing to provide such insurance, or (d) result in an increase in the 
insurance rate or premium over the premium which would have been charged in the absence of such 
violation or condition, unless, in the case of such increase, the Owner or Occupant responsible for such 
increase shall pay the same. 

25. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. Each Owner agrees to discharge, defend, indemnify and hold Developer, Developer’s 
Affiliates and the officers, directors, managers, members, agents, employees, representatives, successors 
and assigns of each of them (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties” and individually, an “Indemnified 
Party”) harmless from and against any and all demands, claims, suits, causes of action, proceedings, 
obligations, settlements, liabilities, damages, injunctions, penalties, liens, losses, charges, court costs and 
reasonable expenses of every kind or nature (including, without limitation, reasonable fees of attorneys 
and other professionals retained by Developer in the event Owner fails to retain counsel to represent 
Developer who is acceptable to Developer) which may be actually imposed on, incurred by or asserted 
against any of the Indemnified Parties arising from or out of: 

i. any failure by Owner or its Occupants to perform any of the agreements, terms, 
covenants, or conditions on Owner’s part to be performed under this Declaration, subject to applicable 
notice and cure periods; 



 

11 

ii. any accident, injury or damage which happens in or occurs on the Owner’s Lot to 
any persons on the Lot, unless caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Developer, its 
agents, contractors, officers, managers, members or employees or suffered by employees of Developer 
whose damages would otherwise be covered under applicable workers’ compensation benefits; 

iii. any work undertaken by Owner (or on behalf, at the direction, or with the consent 
of Owner) or its Occupants in, on, or about the Lot; 

iv. the use, non-use, possession, occupation, condition, operation, maintenance or 
management of the Lot or any part thereof or of any road, passageway or space adjacent thereto by Owner 
(or on behalf, at the direction, or with the consent of such Owner) or its Occupants, to the extent that such 
road, passageway or space adjacent to the Lot is actually being utilized, used, occupied, maintained 
and/or encroached upon by Owner or its Occupants or is otherwise under the control of Owner or its 
Occupants; 

v. any wrongful act or negligence committed by Owner or its Occupants (or their 
respective agents, employees or contractors) in connection with, arising out of or relating to the 
ownership, use, occupancy or operation of the Lot and any failure of Owner or its Occupants to comply 
with any Applicable Law relating to, arising from or in connection with the use, non-use, possession, 
occupation, condition, maintenance or management of the Lot or any part thereof, or any road, 
passageway or space adjacent thereto to the extent not covered by insurance maintained by Developer, to 
the extent that such road, passageway or space adjacent to the Lot is actually being utilized, used, 
occupied, maintained and/or encroached upon by Owner or its Occupants or is otherwise under the 
control of Owner or its Occupants; and 

vi. any other provision of this Declaration which provides that Owner shall 
indemnify and/or hold harmless any of the Indemnified Parties with respect to the matters contained in 
such provision. 

26. AMENDMENTS TO DECLARATION.   

a. This Declaration may be amended by a written document approved by the Owners of at 
least seventy-five percent (75%) of the Lots subject to this Declaration, provided, however, that so long as 
Developer owns at least one Lot or Outlot within the Subdivision: (i) Developer, acting alone, shall have 
the authority to amend this Declaration; and (ii) no amendment of this Declaration shall be effective 
unless the amendment is also approved by Developer. If a Lot is owned by more than one Owner, 
amendment approval by any one or more of Owners of such Lot shall be deemed sufficient to evidence 
approval of the amendment, unless the other Lot Owner has previously recorded in the Register of Deeds’ 
Office a notice stating that approval of any amendment on behalf of such Lot shall not be effective 
without the approval of the Owner filing such notice. In no event shall this section be construed to require 
Developer to obtain the approval of any Lot Owner to make any amendment to this Declaration which is 
expressly permitted under this Declaration to be made by Developer alone.  “Approval” as referenced in 
this Section shall mean signature pages with the sufficient majority of approving Lot Owners’ signatures 
appended to a copy of the approved amendment and maintained in the corporate book of the Association.  
The actual amendment shall be executed by the president and secretary of the Association, with a 
warranty and representation by such signatories that signature pages evidencing the appropriate majority 
of Lot Owners are on file with the secretary of the Association in the Association’s corporate book.  
Except as to such president’s and secretary’s signature, no other Association signature shall be required 
on the amendment.  Amendments shall be effective upon the date of recordation in the Register of Deeds’ 
Office. 



 

12 

b. During such time as Developer continues to own at least one Lot or Outlot in the 
Subdivision, Developer, acting alone, shall have the right, but not the obligation, to subject additional 
lands to this Declaration.  If Developer adds additional lands to be subject to this Declaration, Lots 
created in such addition shall have equal membership and voting rights in the Association, and be subject 
to assessment for an equal share of the Association’s existing and anticipated expenses in the same 
manner as all other Lots subject to this Declaration. 

27. ASSIGNMENT.  All or any of Developer’s rights pursuant to this Declaration may be 
assigned by Developer to one or more successor developers by written assignment executed by Developer 
alone, and which assignment(s) shall become effective upon recordation in the Register of Deeds’ Office. 

28. ENFORCEMENT.   

a. This Declaration may be enforced by proceedings at law or in equity against any person 
or persons violating or attempting to violate same.  An enforcement action may be brought by Developer, 
the Association or any Lot Owner.  An enforcement proceeding may seek to recover damages and/or 
demand compliance through injunctive or other relief. No enforcement action shall be valid or sustainable 
where seeking to address any construction, placement or alteration of any structure or improvement on 
any Lot more than one year after the completion of the construction, placement or alteration of such 
structure or improvement. This one-year limitation shall not apply to any failure to establish and/or 
maintain proper grading and/or with respect to changes in grade made without obtaining all required 
approvals. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to require Developer or the Association to 
undertake any enforcement action.  If Developer or the Association prevails in any enforcement action 
brought respecting this Declaration, Developer or the Association, as the case may be, may recover all of 
its costs and expenses in such enforcement, including, without limitation, its reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
from the non-prevailing party. 

b. In addition to remedies set forth above, if any Lot Owner shall violate any covenant or 
restriction contained in this Declaration, and if such violation is an initial violation by such Lot Owner of 
such particular covenant or restriction, which violation remains uncured for more than five (5) days after 
notice by Developer or Association, such Owner may be assessed by the Association a fine of Twenty-
Five Dollars ($25) per day, commencing on the sixth (6th) day after the notice of initial violation was 
provided to such offending Owner.  In the instance of a second or subsequent violation of the same 
covenant by the same Owner, no cure period shall be provided, and the Twenty-Five Dollars ($25) per 
day fine shall commence on the date the offense is reported to the Association with photographic or other 
supporting evidence.  The Board of Directors shall be empowered to extend cure periods where 
reasonably necessary and appropriate in such Board’s discretion to permit cure. 

29. TERM.  This Declaration shall run with the Property, and shall be binding upon all 
parties and persons having any interest in such land for an initial period of forty (40) years from the date 
this Declaration is recorded.  Thereafter, the Declaration shall continue for the full duration of the 
statutory limitation period for actions to enforce easements or covenants restricting the use of real estate 
(currently codified at Section 893.33 (6), Wis. Stats., but including any future amendments, modifications 
or renumbering of that section).  Unless opposed by greater than seventy-five percent (75%) of the then-
Owners of Lots in the Subdivision, the term of this Declaration may be extended by written extension 
recorded in the Register of Deeds’ Office signed by the then-president and secretary of the Association.  
Prior to execution and recordation of such extension, a meeting shall be held to determine whether more 
than seventy-five percent (75%) of the Lot Owners are opposed to such extension and would instead elect 
to have the term of the Declaration terminated. 



 

13 

30. FURTHER DEVELOPMENT.  Developer and/or its affiliates intends to develop other 
land adjacent to the Development for residential or recreational purposes.  Each Lot Owner acknowledges 
these intentions and agrees not to interfere with the future development of the Property or adjacent land 
by the Developer for the stated purposes. 

31. SAND VALLEY, TITLE CONFERS NO SPECIAL PRIVELEGES.  No person obtains 
special privileges or access to Sand Valley resort or any of Sand Valley’s amenities solely by virtue of 
their ownership of a Lot within the Subdivision. 

32. MISCELLANEOUS. 

a. This Declaration runs with the lands and shall be binding upon Developer and Owners 
and all of Developer’s and Owners’ successors and assigns in and to any interest in any Lot. 

b. The laws of the State of Wisconsin govern all matters arising out of this Declaration. 

c. Any notice required or desired to be given under this Declaration may be sent as follows: 
(i) if to Developer or Association, to the person and at the address maintained as the registered agent for 
such entity according to the records of the Wisconsin Department of Financial Institutions; and (ii) if to 
any Lot Owner, to the address maintained to the Lot by Town for tax assessment or notice purposes. 

d. If any provision of this Declaration is held unenforceable by a court of law, such holding 
shall in no way affect any other provision of this Declaration, which shall remain in full force and effect. 

e. Topical headings and captions contained in this Declaration are inserted for convenience 
only and such headings and captions shall not limit or construe the sections to which they apply or 
otherwise affect their interpretation. 

f. Words of masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall mean and include corresponding 
words of other genders and words importing the singular number shall mean and include the plural 
number and vice versa. 

g. The terms “include,” “including,” and similar terms shall be construed as if followed by 
the phrase “without being limited to.” 

 

EXHIBITS 

Exhibit A Legal Description 
Exhibit B Site Plan Depicting the Development 
Exhibit C Permitted Building Envelopes 

 

This instrument was drafted by: 
Daniel A. O’Callaghan, Esq. 
Carlson Black O’Callaghan & Battenberg LLP 
608.888.1687 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 



 

14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, This Declaration is made as of the Effective Date. 

DEVELOPER: 
SEDGE VILLAGE, LLC 
 
 
 
By:       
     Baker Thompson, Manager 
 
 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

STATE OF     ) 
     ) SS. 
COUNTY OF    ) 
 
 Personally came before me this ____ day of _________, 2024, the above-named Baker Thompson, as 
Manager of Sedge Village, LLC, to me known to be the person who executed the foregoing instrument in such 
capacity and acknowledged the same. 
 
 
 

       
Name:       
Notary Public, State of      
My Commission:     

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

[to be inserted] 
 
 
Parcel Identification Numbers:  
 
[to be inserted] 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 

SUBDIVISION PLAT 
 
 

[attached] 
 

 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
 

PERMITTED BUILDING ENVELOPES 
 

[attached] 
 

 



United States
Department of
Agriculture

A product of the National
Cooperative Soil Survey,
a joint effort of the United
States Department of
Agriculture and other
Federal agencies, State
agencies including the
Agricultural Experiment
Stations, and local
participants

Custom Soil Resource 
Report for

Adams County, 
Wisconsin

Natural
Resources
Conservation
Service

February 18, 2022



Preface
Soil surveys contain information that affects land use planning in survey areas. 
They highlight soil limitations that affect various land uses and provide information 
about the properties of the soils in the survey areas. Soil surveys are designed for 
many different users, including farmers, ranchers, foresters, agronomists, urban 
planners, community officials, engineers, developers, builders, and home buyers. 
Also, conservationists, teachers, students, and specialists in recreation, waste 
disposal, and pollution control can use the surveys to help them understand, 
protect, or enhance the environment.

Various land use regulations of Federal, State, and local governments may impose 
special restrictions on land use or land treatment. Soil surveys identify soil 
properties that are used in making various land use or land treatment decisions. 
The information is intended to help the land users identify and reduce the effects of 
soil limitations on various land uses. The landowner or user is responsible for 
identifying and complying with existing laws and regulations.

Although soil survey information can be used for general farm, local, and wider area 
planning, onsite investigation is needed to supplement this information in some 
cases. Examples include soil quality assessments (http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/
portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/) and certain conservation and engineering 
applications. For more detailed information, contact your local USDA Service Center 
(https://offices.sc.egov.usda.gov/locator/app?agency=nrcs) or your NRCS State Soil 
Scientist (http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?
cid=nrcs142p2_053951).

Great differences in soil properties can occur within short distances. Some soils are 
seasonally wet or subject to flooding. Some are too unstable to be used as a 
foundation for buildings or roads. Clayey or wet soils are poorly suited to use as 
septic tank absorption fields. A high water table makes a soil poorly suited to 
basements or underground installations.

The National Cooperative Soil Survey is a joint effort of the United States 
Department of Agriculture and other Federal agencies, State agencies including the 
Agricultural Experiment Stations, and local agencies. The Natural Resources 
Conservation Service (NRCS) has leadership for the Federal part of the National 
Cooperative Soil Survey.

Information about soils is updated periodically. Updated information is available 
through the NRCS Web Soil Survey, the site for official soil survey information.

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its 
programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, 
and where applicable, sex, marital status, familial status, parental status, religion, 
sexual orientation, genetic information, political beliefs, reprisal, or because all or a 
part of an individual's income is derived from any public assistance program. (Not 
all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require 

2

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/
https://offices.sc.egov.usda.gov/locator/app?agency=nrcs
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?cid=nrcs142p2_053951
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?cid=nrcs142p2_053951


alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, 
audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice 
and TDD). To file a complaint of discrimination, write to USDA, Director, Office of 
Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250-9410 or 
call (800) 795-3272 (voice) or (202) 720-6382 (TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity 
provider and employer.

3



Contents
Preface.................................................................................................................... 2
How Soil Surveys Are Made..................................................................................5
Soil Map.................................................................................................................. 8

Soil Map................................................................................................................9
Legend................................................................................................................10
Map Unit Legend................................................................................................ 11
Map Unit Descriptions.........................................................................................11

Adams County, Wisconsin.............................................................................. 13
PfA—Plainfield sand, 0 to 2 percent slopes................................................ 13
PfB—Plainfield sand, 2 to 6 percent slopes................................................ 14
PfC—Plainfield sand, 6 to 12 percent slopes.............................................. 16
PfD—Plainfield sand, 12 to 35 percent slopes............................................ 17

References............................................................................................................20

4



How Soil Surveys Are Made
Soil surveys are made to provide information about the soils and miscellaneous 
areas in a specific area. They include a description of the soils and miscellaneous 
areas and their location on the landscape and tables that show soil properties and 
limitations affecting various uses. Soil scientists observed the steepness, length, 
and shape of the slopes; the general pattern of drainage; the kinds of crops and 
native plants; and the kinds of bedrock. They observed and described many soil 
profiles. A soil profile is the sequence of natural layers, or horizons, in a soil. The 
profile extends from the surface down into the unconsolidated material in which the 
soil formed or from the surface down to bedrock. The unconsolidated material is 
devoid of roots and other living organisms and has not been changed by other 
biological activity.

Currently, soils are mapped according to the boundaries of major land resource 
areas (MLRAs). MLRAs are geographically associated land resource units that 
share common characteristics related to physiography, geology, climate, water 
resources, soils, biological resources, and land uses (USDA, 2006). Soil survey 
areas typically consist of parts of one or more MLRA.

The soils and miscellaneous areas in a survey area occur in an orderly pattern that 
is related to the geology, landforms, relief, climate, and natural vegetation of the 
area. Each kind of soil and miscellaneous area is associated with a particular kind 
of landform or with a segment of the landform. By observing the soils and 
miscellaneous areas in the survey area and relating their position to specific 
segments of the landform, a soil scientist develops a concept, or model, of how they 
were formed. Thus, during mapping, this model enables the soil scientist to predict 
with a considerable degree of accuracy the kind of soil or miscellaneous area at a 
specific location on the landscape.

Commonly, individual soils on the landscape merge into one another as their 
characteristics gradually change. To construct an accurate soil map, however, soil 
scientists must determine the boundaries between the soils. They can observe only 
a limited number of soil profiles. Nevertheless, these observations, supplemented 
by an understanding of the soil-vegetation-landscape relationship, are sufficient to 
verify predictions of the kinds of soil in an area and to determine the boundaries.

Soil scientists recorded the characteristics of the soil profiles that they studied. They 
noted soil color, texture, size and shape of soil aggregates, kind and amount of rock 
fragments, distribution of plant roots, reaction, and other features that enable them 
to identify soils. After describing the soils in the survey area and determining their 
properties, the soil scientists assigned the soils to taxonomic classes (units). 
Taxonomic classes are concepts. Each taxonomic class has a set of soil 
characteristics with precisely defined limits. The classes are used as a basis for 
comparison to classify soils systematically. Soil taxonomy, the system of taxonomic 
classification used in the United States, is based mainly on the kind and character 
of soil properties and the arrangement of horizons within the profile. After the soil 

5



scientists classified and named the soils in the survey area, they compared the 
individual soils with similar soils in the same taxonomic class in other areas so that 
they could confirm data and assemble additional data based on experience and 
research.

The objective of soil mapping is not to delineate pure map unit components; the 
objective is to separate the landscape into landforms or landform segments that 
have similar use and management requirements. Each map unit is defined by a 
unique combination of soil components and/or miscellaneous areas in predictable 
proportions. Some components may be highly contrasting to the other components 
of the map unit. The presence of minor components in a map unit in no way 
diminishes the usefulness or accuracy of the data. The delineation of such 
landforms and landform segments on the map provides sufficient information for the 
development of resource plans. If intensive use of small areas is planned, onsite 
investigation is needed to define and locate the soils and miscellaneous areas.

Soil scientists make many field observations in the process of producing a soil map. 
The frequency of observation is dependent upon several factors, including scale of 
mapping, intensity of mapping, design of map units, complexity of the landscape, 
and experience of the soil scientist. Observations are made to test and refine the 
soil-landscape model and predictions and to verify the classification of the soils at 
specific locations. Once the soil-landscape model is refined, a significantly smaller 
number of measurements of individual soil properties are made and recorded. 
These measurements may include field measurements, such as those for color, 
depth to bedrock, and texture, and laboratory measurements, such as those for 
content of sand, silt, clay, salt, and other components. Properties of each soil 
typically vary from one point to another across the landscape.

Observations for map unit components are aggregated to develop ranges of 
characteristics for the components. The aggregated values are presented. Direct 
measurements do not exist for every property presented for every map unit 
component. Values for some properties are estimated from combinations of other 
properties.

While a soil survey is in progress, samples of some of the soils in the area generally 
are collected for laboratory analyses and for engineering tests. Soil scientists 
interpret the data from these analyses and tests as well as the field-observed 
characteristics and the soil properties to determine the expected behavior of the 
soils under different uses. Interpretations for all of the soils are field tested through 
observation of the soils in different uses and under different levels of management. 
Some interpretations are modified to fit local conditions, and some new 
interpretations are developed to meet local needs. Data are assembled from other 
sources, such as research information, production records, and field experience of 
specialists. For example, data on crop yields under defined levels of management 
are assembled from farm records and from field or plot experiments on the same 
kinds of soil.

Predictions about soil behavior are based not only on soil properties but also on 
such variables as climate and biological activity. Soil conditions are predictable over 
long periods of time, but they are not predictable from year to year. For example, 
soil scientists can predict with a fairly high degree of accuracy that a given soil will 
have a high water table within certain depths in most years, but they cannot predict 
that a high water table will always be at a specific level in the soil on a specific date.

After soil scientists located and identified the significant natural bodies of soil in the 
survey area, they drew the boundaries of these bodies on aerial photographs and 

Custom Soil Resource Report

6



identified each as a specific map unit. Aerial photographs show trees, buildings, 
fields, roads, and rivers, all of which help in locating boundaries accurately.

Custom Soil Resource Report

7



Soil Map
The soil map section includes the soil map for the defined area of interest, a list of 
soil map units on the map and extent of each map unit, and cartographic symbols 
displayed on the map. Also presented are various metadata about data used to 
produce the map, and a description of each soil map unit.

8



9

Custom Soil Resource Report
Soil Map

48
95

20
0

48
95

40
0

48
95

60
0

48
95

80
0

48
96

00
0

48
96

20
0

48
96

40
0

48
95

20
0

48
95

40
0

48
95

60
0

48
95

80
0

48
96

00
0

48
96

20
0

48
96

40
0

269700 269900 270100 270300 270500 270700 270900 271100 271300 271500 271700

269700 269900 270100 270300 270500 270700 270900 271100 271300 271500

44°  11' 6'' N
89

° 
 5

2'
 5

5'
' W

44°  11' 6'' N

89
° 
 5

1'
 2

2'
' W

44°  10' 23'' N

89
° 
 5

2'
 5

5'
' W

44°  10' 23'' N

89
° 
 5

1'
 2

2'
' W

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84   Edge tics: UTM Zone 16N WGS84
0 450 900 1800 2700

Feet
0 100 200 400 600

Meters
Map Scale: 1:9,480 if printed on A landscape (11" x 8.5") sheet.

Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.



MAP LEGEND MAP INFORMATION

Area of Interest (AOI)
Area of Interest (AOI)

Soils
Soil Map Unit Polygons

Soil Map Unit Lines

Soil Map Unit Points

Special Point Features
Blowout

Borrow Pit

Clay Spot

Closed Depression

Gravel Pit

Gravelly Spot

Landfill

Lava Flow

Marsh or swamp

Mine or Quarry

Miscellaneous Water

Perennial Water

Rock Outcrop

Saline Spot

Sandy Spot

Severely Eroded Spot

Sinkhole

Slide or Slip

Sodic Spot

Spoil Area

Stony Spot

Very Stony Spot

Wet Spot

Other

Special Line Features

Water Features
Streams and Canals

Transportation
Rails

Interstate Highways

US Routes

Major Roads

Local Roads

Background
Aerial Photography

The soil surveys that comprise your AOI were mapped at 
1:20,000.

Warning: Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Enlargement of maps beyond the scale of mapping can cause 
misunderstanding of the detail of mapping and accuracy of soil 
line placement. The maps do not show the small areas of 
contrasting soils that could have been shown at a more detailed 
scale.

Please rely on the bar scale on each map sheet for map 
measurements.

Source of Map: Natural Resources Conservation Service
Web Soil Survey URL: 
Coordinate System: Web Mercator (EPSG:3857)

Maps from the Web Soil Survey are based on the Web Mercator 
projection, which preserves direction and shape but distorts 
distance and area. A projection that preserves area, such as the 
Albers equal-area conic projection, should be used if more 
accurate calculations of distance or area are required.

This product is generated from the USDA-NRCS certified data as 
of the version date(s) listed below.

Soil Survey Area: Adams County, Wisconsin
Survey Area Data: Version 21, Sep 7, 2021

Soil map units are labeled (as space allows) for map scales 
1:50,000 or larger.

Date(s) aerial images were photographed: May 12, 2020—May 
15, 2020

The orthophoto or other base map on which the soil lines were 
compiled and digitized probably differs from the background 
imagery displayed on these maps. As a result, some minor 
shifting of map unit boundaries may be evident.

Custom Soil Resource Report

10



Map Unit Legend

Map Unit Symbol Map Unit Name Acres in AOI Percent of AOI

PfA Plainfield sand, 0 to 2 percent 
slopes

37.6 13.2%

PfB Plainfield sand, 2 to 6 percent 
slopes

243.1 85.6%

PfC Plainfield sand, 6 to 12 percent 
slopes

0.5 0.2%

PfD Plainfield sand, 12 to 35 
percent slopes

2.7 1.0%

Totals for Area of Interest 283.9 100.0%

Map Unit Descriptions
The map units delineated on the detailed soil maps in a soil survey represent the 
soils or miscellaneous areas in the survey area. The map unit descriptions, along 
with the maps, can be used to determine the composition and properties of a unit.

A map unit delineation on a soil map represents an area dominated by one or more 
major kinds of soil or miscellaneous areas. A map unit is identified and named 
according to the taxonomic classification of the dominant soils. Within a taxonomic 
class there are precisely defined limits for the properties of the soils. On the 
landscape, however, the soils are natural phenomena, and they have the 
characteristic variability of all natural phenomena. Thus, the range of some 
observed properties may extend beyond the limits defined for a taxonomic class. 
Areas of soils of a single taxonomic class rarely, if ever, can be mapped without 
including areas of other taxonomic classes. Consequently, every map unit is made 
up of the soils or miscellaneous areas for which it is named and some minor 
components that belong to taxonomic classes other than those of the major soils.

Most minor soils have properties similar to those of the dominant soil or soils in the 
map unit, and thus they do not affect use and management. These are called 
noncontrasting, or similar, components. They may or may not be mentioned in a 
particular map unit description. Other minor components, however, have properties 
and behavioral characteristics divergent enough to affect use or to require different 
management. These are called contrasting, or dissimilar, components. They 
generally are in small areas and could not be mapped separately because of the 
scale used. Some small areas of strongly contrasting soils or miscellaneous areas 
are identified by a special symbol on the maps. If included in the database for a 
given area, the contrasting minor components are identified in the map unit 
descriptions along with some characteristics of each. A few areas of minor 
components may not have been observed, and consequently they are not 
mentioned in the descriptions, especially where the pattern was so complex that it 
was impractical to make enough observations to identify all the soils and 
miscellaneous areas on the landscape.

Custom Soil Resource Report

11



The presence of minor components in a map unit in no way diminishes the 
usefulness or accuracy of the data. The objective of mapping is not to delineate 
pure taxonomic classes but rather to separate the landscape into landforms or 
landform segments that have similar use and management requirements. The 
delineation of such segments on the map provides sufficient information for the 
development of resource plans. If intensive use of small areas is planned, however, 
onsite investigation is needed to define and locate the soils and miscellaneous 
areas.

An identifying symbol precedes the map unit name in the map unit descriptions. 
Each description includes general facts about the unit and gives important soil 
properties and qualities.

Soils that have profiles that are almost alike make up a soil series. Except for 
differences in texture of the surface layer, all the soils of a series have major 
horizons that are similar in composition, thickness, and arrangement.

Soils of one series can differ in texture of the surface layer, slope, stoniness, 
salinity, degree of erosion, and other characteristics that affect their use. On the 
basis of such differences, a soil series is divided into soil phases. Most of the areas 
shown on the detailed soil maps are phases of soil series. The name of a soil phase 
commonly indicates a feature that affects use or management. For example, Alpha 
silt loam, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is a phase of the Alpha series.

Some map units are made up of two or more major soils or miscellaneous areas. 
These map units are complexes, associations, or undifferentiated groups.

A complex consists of two or more soils or miscellaneous areas in such an intricate 
pattern or in such small areas that they cannot be shown separately on the maps. 
The pattern and proportion of the soils or miscellaneous areas are somewhat similar 
in all areas. Alpha-Beta complex, 0 to 6 percent slopes, is an example.

An association is made up of two or more geographically associated soils or 
miscellaneous areas that are shown as one unit on the maps. Because of present 
or anticipated uses of the map units in the survey area, it was not considered 
practical or necessary to map the soils or miscellaneous areas separately. The 
pattern and relative proportion of the soils or miscellaneous areas are somewhat 
similar. Alpha-Beta association, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is an example.

An undifferentiated group is made up of two or more soils or miscellaneous areas 
that could be mapped individually but are mapped as one unit because similar 
interpretations can be made for use and management. The pattern and proportion 
of the soils or miscellaneous areas in a mapped area are not uniform. An area can 
be made up of only one of the major soils or miscellaneous areas, or it can be made 
up of all of them. Alpha and Beta soils, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is an example.

Some surveys include miscellaneous areas. Such areas have little or no soil 
material and support little or no vegetation. Rock outcrop is an example.

Custom Soil Resource Report

12



Adams County, Wisconsin

PfA—Plainfield sand, 0 to 2 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2v3dn
Elevation: 720 to 1,440 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 31 to 35 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 43 to 46 degrees F
Frost-free period: 110 to 150 days
Farmland classification: Not prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Plainfield and similar soils: 90 percent
Minor components: 10 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Plainfield

Setting
Landform: Terraces, rises
Landform position (two-dimensional): Summit
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread, rise
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Parent material: Sandy outwash

Typical profile
Ap - 0 to 7 inches: sand
Bw - 7 to 28 inches: sand
BC - 28 to 36 inches: sand
C - 36 to 79 inches: sand

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 2 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Excessively drained
Runoff class: Negligible
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): High to very high (6.00 

to 20.00 in/hr)
Depth to water table: About 60 to 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Maximum salinity: Nonsaline to very slightly saline (0.0 to 2.0 mmhos/cm)
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Low (about 4.0 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): 2s
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 4s
Hydrologic Soil Group: A
Forage suitability group: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

13



Minor Components

Friendship
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Landform: Outwash plains, stream terraces, lake terraces
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread, talf
Down-slope shape: Convex, linear
Across-slope shape: Convex, linear
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained (G105XY002WI)
Hydric soil rating: No

Meehan
Percent of map unit: 3 percent
Landform: Plains
Landform position (three-dimensional): Talf, dip
Down-slope shape: Linear, concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

Richford
Percent of map unit: 2 percent
Landform: Plains
Landform position (three-dimensional): Talf
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

PfB—Plainfield sand, 2 to 6 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2v3dt
Elevation: 720 to 1,440 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 31 to 35 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 43 to 46 degrees F
Frost-free period: 110 to 150 days
Farmland classification: Not prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Plainfield and similar soils: 90 percent
Minor components: 10 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Plainfield

Setting
Landform: Terraces, rises
Landform position (two-dimensional): Summit
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread, rise
Down-slope shape: Linear

Custom Soil Resource Report

14



Across-slope shape: Linear
Parent material: Sandy outwash

Typical profile
Ap - 0 to 7 inches: sand
Bw - 7 to 28 inches: sand
BC - 28 to 36 inches: sand
C - 36 to 79 inches: sand

Properties and qualities
Slope: 2 to 6 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Excessively drained
Runoff class: Very low
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): High to very high (6.00 

to 20.00 in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Maximum salinity: Nonsaline to very slightly saline (0.0 to 2.0 mmhos/cm)
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Low (about 4.0 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): 2s
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 4s
Hydrologic Soil Group: A
Forage suitability group: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)
Hydric soil rating: No

Minor Components

Friendship
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Landform: Outwash plains, stream terraces, lake terraces
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread, talf
Down-slope shape: Convex, linear
Across-slope shape: Convex, linear
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained (G105XY002WI)
Hydric soil rating: No

Meehan
Percent of map unit: 3 percent
Landform: Plains
Landform position (three-dimensional): Talf, dip
Down-slope shape: Linear, concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

Richford
Percent of map unit: 2 percent
Landform: Plains
Landform position (three-dimensional): Talf
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

15



PfC—Plainfield sand, 6 to 12 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2v3dv
Elevation: 720 to 1,440 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 31 to 35 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 43 to 46 degrees F
Frost-free period: 110 to 150 days
Farmland classification: Not prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Plainfield and similar soils: 90 percent
Minor components: 10 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Plainfield

Setting
Landform: Terraces, rises
Landform position (two-dimensional): Backslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread, rise
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Parent material: Sandy drift

Typical profile
Ap - 0 to 7 inches: sand
Bw - 7 to 28 inches: sand
BC - 28 to 34 inches: sand
C - 34 to 79 inches: sand

Properties and qualities
Slope: 6 to 12 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Excessively drained
Runoff class: Low
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): High to very high (6.00 

to 20.00 in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Maximum salinity: Nonsaline to very slightly saline (0.0 to 2.0 mmhos/cm)
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Low (about 4.0 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 6s
Hydrologic Soil Group: A
Forage suitability group: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)

Custom Soil Resource Report

16



Hydric soil rating: No

Minor Components

Friendship
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Landform: Outwash plains, stream terraces, lake terraces
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread, talf
Down-slope shape: Convex, linear
Across-slope shape: Convex, linear
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)
Hydric soil rating: No

Plainbo
Percent of map unit: 3 percent
Landform: Valley trains, hills, stream terraces
Landform position (two-dimensional): Backslope, shoulder
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest, tread, talf
Down-slope shape: Convex, linear
Across-slope shape: Convex, linear
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)
Hydric soil rating: No

Richford
Percent of map unit: 2 percent
Landform: Plains
Landform position (three-dimensional): Talf
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

PfD—Plainfield sand, 12 to 35 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2v3dw
Elevation: 720 to 1,440 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 31 to 35 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 43 to 46 degrees F
Frost-free period: 110 to 150 days
Farmland classification: Not prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Plainfield and similar soils: 93 percent
Minor components: 7 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Plainfield

Setting
Landform: Rises, terraces

Custom Soil Resource Report

17



Landform position (two-dimensional): Backslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Riser, tread, rise
Down-slope shape: Concave, linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Parent material: Sandy drift

Typical profile
A - 0 to 4 inches: sand
Bw - 4 to 14 inches: sand
BC - 14 to 20 inches: sand
C - 20 to 79 inches: sand

Properties and qualities
Slope: 12 to 35 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Excessively drained
Runoff class: Medium
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): High to very high (6.00 

to 20.00 in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Maximum salinity: Nonsaline to very slightly saline (0.0 to 2.0 mmhos/cm)
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Low (about 3.8 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 7s
Hydrologic Soil Group: A
Forage suitability group: Low AWC, adequately drained with limitations 

(G089XY003WI)
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained with limitations 

(G089XY003WI)
Hydric soil rating: No

Minor Components

Richford
Percent of map unit: 4 percent
Landform: Plains
Landform position (three-dimensional): Talf
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

Plainbo
Percent of map unit: 3 percent
Landform: Valley trains, hills, stream terraces
Landform position (two-dimensional): Backslope, shoulder
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest, tread, talf
Down-slope shape: Convex, linear
Across-slope shape: Convex, linear
Other vegetative classification: Low AWC, adequately drained (G089XY002WI)
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

18



Custom Soil Resource Report

19



References
American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). 
2004. Standard specifications for transportation materials and methods of sampling 
and testing. 24th edition.

American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM). 2005. Standard classification of 
soils for engineering purposes. ASTM Standard D2487-00.

Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of 
wetlands and deep-water habitats of the United States. U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service FWS/OBS-79/31.

Federal Register. July 13, 1994. Changes in hydric soils of the United States.

Federal Register. September 18, 2002. Hydric soils of the United States.

Hurt, G.W., and L.M. Vasilas, editors. Version 6.0, 2006. Field indicators of hydric 
soils in the United States.

National Research Council. 1995. Wetlands: Characteristics and boundaries.

Soil Survey Division Staff. 1993. Soil survey manual. Soil Conservation Service. 
U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 18. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/
nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262 

Soil Survey Staff. 1999. Soil taxonomy: A basic system of soil classification for 
making and interpreting soil surveys. 2nd edition. Natural Resources Conservation 
Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 436. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577 

Soil Survey Staff. 2010. Keys to soil taxonomy. 11th edition. U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580 

Tiner, R.W., Jr. 1985. Wetlands of Delaware. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and 
Delaware Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control, Wetlands 
Section.

United States Army Corps of Engineers, Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of 
Engineers wetlands delineation manual. Waterways Experiment Station Technical 
Report Y-87-1.

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National forestry manual. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/
home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374 

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National range and pasture handbook. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/
detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084 

20

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084


United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National soil survey handbook, title 430-VI. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/
nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242 

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
2006. Land resource regions and major land resource areas of the United States, 
the Caribbean, and the Pacific Basin. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 
296. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?
cid=nrcs142p2_053624 

United States Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service. 1961. Land 
capability classification. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 210. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf 

Custom Soil Resource Report

21

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053624
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053624
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf


 
 
 

 

Utility and Stormwater Management Summary 

Sedge Village South 
Town of Rome, WI 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Prepared For: 
Sedge Village LLC 
875 N Michigan Ave, Ste 3920 
Chicago, IL 60611 
 
 
Prepared By: 
Vierbicher 
600 W Virginia St, Suite 601 
Milwaukee, WI 53204 
 
 
Prepared On: 
February 28, 2024 
Project #150044 
 
 
 
© Vierbicher Associates, Inc. 



1 
 

NARRATIVE 
 

1.1 Introduction 
 

The project site is located south of Luna Lane within the Sand Valley development in the 
Town of Rome, WI.  The project includes the re-platting of Lots 26-28 of the Sedge Village 
plat to include 10 new single family residences, 2 access drives and a wet basin. The 
purpose of this summary is to discuss the utilities and stormwater management facilities to 
serve the project. 
 

1.2 Utility Description 
 

It is currently proposed to serve each of the home sites with their own gas tank, water 
supply well and private onsite wasterwater treatment system (POWTS). Electric and cable 
services are installed along Luna Lane and are proposed to be extended to serve each 
of the home sites. Storm sewer culverts shall be installed as necessary to safely convey 
stormwater under driveways. A storm sewer outlet is proposed to control the elevation of 
the wet basin and shall be utilized to convey stormwater from the wet basin to a 
downstream regional stormwater facility.  
 

1.3 Stormwater Management Summary 
  
 The proposed site will be required to meet the new development stormwater 

management standards of the Town of Rome, Adams County, and the State of 
Wisconsin DNR.  A summary of the requirements are listed in the table below: 

 
Stormwater Management Requirements 

Design Frequency 1-, 2-, 10-, and 100-Year, 24-hour events using with MSE3 
Distribution 

Rainfall Data  1-year = 2.4”, 2-year = 2.69”, 10-year = 3.82”, 100-year = 6.38” 
per 24-hour period 

Curve Number (CN) Pre-Developed Maximum: 39 
Post-Developed Impervious Areas: 98 
Post-Developed Proposed Grassed Areas: 56 

Peak Rate Control Post-Developed Peak Discharge less than or equal to Pre-
Developed Peak Discharge for 1- and 2-year events;  
Post-Developed Peak Discharge not more than 10% increase 
over Pre-Developed Peak Discharge for 10-year event 

Runoff Volume Control Post-Developed Volume not more than 10% increase over 
Pre-Developed Volume for 2- and 10-year storm events 

Sediment Control 80% TSS Reduction as compared to no controls for Post- 
Developed 

Infiltration 90% Infiltration of Pre-Developed volume, based on average 
annual rainfall 

Erosion Control 5 tons/acre/year or less of soil loss 
 
 Proposed grassed swales, vegetative buffers, a wet basin, and existing infiltration 

basins/depressions shall be utilized to meet these stormwater management requirements. 
The stormwater runoff from the proposed access roads shall initially drain to proposed 
roadside grassed swales or vegetative buffers, where the stormwater will be treated to 
provide a minimum of 60% total suspended solids (TSS) removal. The stormwater shall then 
be conveyed to either the wet pond or an infiltration depression. Stormwater that is 



2 
 

conveyed to the wet pond shall overflow to a regional infiltration basin (currently under 
construction.  The site is an enclosed watershed in which not a significant amount of 
stormwater is draining off-site in the current conditions. Given the enclosed watershed 
condition, it is proposed to infiltrate the stormwater from all rainfall events up to (at a 
minimum) the 100-year design event at the proposed infiltration basin and the existing 
infiltration depressions.  The stormwater will be contained within the basin/depressions so 
that the proposed cabins have a minimum of 1’ of freeboard and the utility transformers 
and roads are not inundated.   
 
The required land disturbing and stormwater management permits shall be obtained 
prior to construction. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
M:\Sand Valley\150044 Town of Rome Site\Design Development\Stormwater and Erosion Control\Storm Water Report\Sand Valley\2024-02-28 Sedge Village 
South - PPlat Summary\Stormwater Summary.docx 









Future Plan Commission Review Requirements/Considera6ons for Site Plan & Plan of Opera6on 
  

• Correct all documents and maps as needed to show all required informa5on from the 
Condi5onal Use Permit Condi5on(s) and/or correct inaccuracies 

o Re-submit a fully completed Site Plan & Plan of Opera5on Checklist document 
with updated informa5on  

• Campground Map should depict all items that are shown on the map in a key (i.e. 
landscaping key) 

• Landscaping List should be provided for all types of plan5ngs 
o Campground Map should depict trees in setback areas (including Lot 1 area as 

screening) 
o Landscaping plan should meet species requirement in Design Plan requirements 

• Plans (Floor plan & architectural rendering) for office/shower house is needed and needs 
to comply with B-1 (height, width) requirements (i.e. 24’x24’) and Design Plan building 
standards 

• Sep5c loca5on and size must be depicted on map 
o Sanitary Sewer – All campsites should be full hookups (men5oned by mul5ple PC 

members) 
• Update stormwater map depic5ng all relevant loca5ons of stormwater areas and include 

approvals from Adams County & DNR 
• Provide updated exterior ligh5ng plan and parking plan 

o Include plans for handling overflow parking 
o Both plans must meet the Design Plan requirements in B1 District 

• Sign plan/permit applica5on should be submiXed 









 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 

1) A full and complete application was filed by Barnum Bay Beach and Marina, LLC, and received 
December 1, 2023 (herein referred to as "Application") seeking approval of a Site Plan & Plan of 
Operation Review for the property located on Archer Ln, also described as Lot 1 CSM 4670, 
located in Government Lot 2 of Section 28, Town 20N, Range 05E, Town of Rome, Adams 
County, WI with a parcel number of 030-00408-0015. 

2) The Site Plan & Plan of Operation Review is to allow for a campground at the property. 
3) The property is zoned B-1 Business District, as defined in Chapter 360 of the Town Code. 
4) The Town of Rome Planning Commission duly set this matter upon the agenda of a public 

meeting and considered the above-described application with the public hearing a matter of 
record of the Planning Commission meeting of March 12, 2024. 

5) At the public hearing on the Application held by the Town of Rome Plan Commission on March 
12, 2024, evidence and testimony was presented by the Applicant, and all interested persons 
were allowed an opportunity to speak, a full and complete record of which will be detailed in the 
minutes of the Plan Commission. 

6) At the conclusion of the public hearing, after consideration and discussion of the application, 
public comments, and the report received by staff, the Planning Commission, upon a motion duly 
seconded, approved the request for the Site Plan & Plan of Operation, and the following findings 
were found by the Plan Commission: 

a. The Site Plan & Plan of Operation conforms with the standards of the applicable district 
in which it is located. 

b. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the proposed campground and use will 
not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety or general welfare of the 
occupants of surrounding lands. 

 
The Town of Rome Plan Commission hereby recommends approval of the Site Plan & Plan of 
Operation request submitted by Barnum Bay Beach and Marina, LLC, to allow for the construction of a 
campground at parcel# 030-00408-0015. The following additional conditions were placed on the 
approval: (if applicable): 
 

a. _______________________________________________________________________ 

b. _______________________________________________________________________ 

c. _______________________________________________________________________ 

d. _______________________________________________________________________ 

 
______________________________  __________________________  
Planning Commission Chair       Date   
 
______________________________  __________________________ 
Planning Commission Secretary      Date 
 
 
Signature of Owner/Applicant: _____________________________         Date: ____________________ 
 
Signature of Owner/Applicant: _____________________________         Date: ____________________ 
Note: if Owner is other than Applicant and is unable to sign, please attach written authorization from Owner allowing Applicant to sign on 
their behalf 
















	4-9-24 Plan Commission Packet (WITHOUT DRAFT MINUTES)
	DRAFT 3-12-24 Plan Commission Minutes
	4-9-24 Plan Commission Packet (WITHOUT DRAFT MINUTES)
	4-9-24 Plan Commission Packet (WITHOUT DRAFT MINUTES)
	4-9-24 Plan Commission Packet (WITHOUT DRAFT MINUTES)
	4-9-24 Plan Commission Packet (WITHOUT DRAFT MINUTES)
	4-9-24 Plan Commission Packet (WITHOUT DRAFT MINUTES)
	4-9-24 Plan Commission Packet (WITHOUT DRAFT MINUTES)
	4-9-24 Plan Commission Packet (WITHOUT DRAFT MINUTES)

